

AR-009-720 DSTO-TR-0345



Mechanisms and Properties of Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity in the Brain: Relationships to Learning & Memory

A. Hashemi-Sakhtsari





APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTED 4

© Commonwealth of Australia

DEFENCE **D** E P A R T M E N T O F DEFENCE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY ORGANISATION

THE UNITED STATES NATIONAL TECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE IS AUTHORISED TO REPRODUCE AND SELL THIS REPORT

Į

nandar har ny fisiana amin'ny fandana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fanana amin'ny fanana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fis

DISCLAIMER NOTICE



THIS DOCUMENT IS BEST QUALITY AVAILABLE. THE COPY FURNISHED TO DTIC CONTAINED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF COLOR PAGES WHICH DO NOT REPRODUCE LEGIBLY ON BLACK AND WHITE MICROFICHE.

Mechanisms and Properties of Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity in the Brain: Relationships to Learning and Memory

A. Hashemi-Sakhtsari

Information Technology Division Electronics and Surveillance Research Laboratory

DSTO-TR-0345

ABSTRACT

Functional and structural changes in synapses, specific regions for communication between nerve cells, are thought to be the basis for storing information, and modulating neuronal behaviour. This continuous remodelling is defined as synaptic plasticity. The process of learning involves stable changes in synaptic efficacy. Longterm potentiation in the hippocampus and long-term depression in the cerebellum are two forms of long-lasting synaptic plasticity that currently serve as our primary experimental models of learning and memory formation. In recent years, there have been considerable advances in understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms of these forms of synaptic plasticity. This report presents an overview of these developments, considers the relationship of long-term synaptic plasticity mechanisms to learning and memory in view of these developments, and suggests future directions for research in this rapidly growing area of neuroscience. Amongst these proposals, any artificial neuronal network model should contain elements that imitate the use-dependent increase (or decrease) of synaptic efficiency.

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENCE

DEFENCE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY ORGANISATION

19961217 065

Published by

DSTO Electronics and Surveillance Research Laboratory PO Box 1500 Salisbury, South Australia, Australia 5108

Telephone: 61 8 259 7053 *Fax:* 61 8 259 5619

© Commonwealth of Australia 1996 AR-009-720 July 1996

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

DSTO-TR-0345

Mechanisms and Properties of Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity in the Brain: Relationships to Learning and Memory

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Plasticity is the tendency of synapses and neural circuits to change as a result of activity. There are various ways in which synaptic efficacy might be altered; for example, transmitter release, or the responsiveness of the postsynaptic cell can be enhanced. Most of the research revolves around the hippocampus and the cerebellum, two areas of the brain with well defined circuitry. This review therefore focuses on recent studies of two major forms of plasticity studied in these structures: Long-term potentiation (LTP) in the hippocampus, and long-term depression (LTD) in the cerebellum.

In 1973, Lømo, Bliss and Gardner-Medwin, from Per Andersen's laboratory in Oslo, found that a sustained volley of impulses (100 Hz for about 1 sec) along the input perforant path fibres entering the dentate gyrus of the rabbit hippocampus resulted in a dramatic and long-lasting increase in the strength of excitatory transmission at the synapses on granule cells. They called this effect *long-term potentiation*, which has become accepted as a model of learning and memory.

In the hippocampus, LTP is expressed as a persistent and synapse-specific increase in the amplitude of synaptic responses elicited by low-frequency stimulation of the excitatory afferents, which release glutamate across their synapses. This excitatory transmitter stimulates two sub-classes of glutamate receptor. These are called ionotropic, and metabotropic receptors (mGluRs). The ionotropic receptors, designated NMDA and non-NMDA receptors, alter membrane permeability to ions, leading to excitatory depolarisation which triggers postsynaptic discharges. The mGluRs are non-NMDA and activate intracellular messengers. Once NMDA receptors open, there is an influx of calcium (Ca2+) into the cell which, together with activation of the mGluRs, sparks off a cascade of biochemical changes that bring about LTP. Importantly, one of these is a retrograde message that enhances the transmitter release induced by a single unit discharge in the presynaptic ending. Thus these NMDA receptors perhaps lie at the molecular heart of memory. Manipulations that prevent NMDA receptor activation, or the responses they induce such as postsynaptic hyperpolarisation, or application of NMDA receptor antagonists, as well as intracellular injection of Ca2+ chelators, all prevent LTP initiation.

LTP as a process can be broken down into 3 conceptual components: changes that lead to its *induction, maintenance* and *expression*. Of these, the *induction* of LTP depends on postsynaptic depolarisation, leading to the inrush of Ca^{2+} and the

subsequent activation of second messenger kinases that modify intracellular metabolism, whereas the *maintenance* and *expression* of LTP depend on postsynaptic changes, although an enhancement of glutamate release from the presynaptic terminal likely to also be involved. The latter mechanism implies retrograde diffusion of a messenger, probably nitric oxide, from the postsynaptic cell. This notion of retrograde transport provides an entirely new principle of cell communication that likely needs to be incorporated into artificial neuronal network models.

Once LTP has been triggered, it can last for hours to several weeks in vivo, enduring enough to make it a likely candidate for the physical changes that underpin the formation of recent memories. There are other main reasons why LTP has become so central to theories about learning: Firstly, it acts in an impeccably "Hebbian" manner, only taking place at pre- and postsynaptic synapses connecting neurones that are both active at the same time (Donald Hebb proposed such a learning relationship in 1949). This is pairing presynaptic activity with postsynaptic depolarisation. Secondly, it behaves like a cellular mimic of classical (Pavlovian) conditioning. Synaptic activity in a "weak" afferent pathway that is unable to support LTP can be made to do so if paired (associated) with synaptic activity in a "strong" pathway that is able to produce LTP independently. Thirdly, there is a high correspondence between optimal LTP induction conditions and endogenous patterns of neural activity in the theta range of 4-12 Hz that accompany learning. GABA is the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain. Theta frequency activity facilitates GABA_B autoreceptor-mediated depression of inhibitory interneurones, thereby opening a time window for the postsynaptic target to sufficiently depolarise and activate NMDA receptors. Further strong support for a role of LTP in memory is provided by the observation that the animal fails to learn new tasks when NMDA or AMPA sub-types of glutamate receptors in the hippocampus are blocked by selective antagonists. Also, prior to stabilisation, LTP formation can be disrupted by a variety of manipulations such as hypoxia, electroconvulsive shock or seizure activity, trains of low frequency stimuli, and cooling. Such vulnerability of LTP to disruption suggests a possible basis for the consolidation period frequently observed in behavioural studies of learning and memory.

If LTP is a mechanism for strengthening connections between synapses, then to avoid synaptic saturation, a complimentary prolonged inhibiting mechanism probably exists to *decrease* synaptic strength. One mechanism that has recently received much attention is associative *long-term depression* (LTD) of synaptic transmission. LTD provides a means of regulating the strength of synaptic connections in the mammalian brain. It has been most thoroughly studied in the mammalian cerebellum at the parallel fibre-Purkinje cell synapse by Ito and his colleagues.

LTD in the cerebellar cortex can be induced either by pairing low-frequency activity (1-4 Hz) in parallel fibres (PFs) and climbing fibres (CFs), two excitatory afferent pathways that converge on cerebellar cortical Purkinje cells, or by pairing PF activity with direct Purkinje cell hyperpolarisation. As in the hippocampus, fast excitatory synaptic transmission at both PF and CF synapses is mediated primarily by postsynaptic AMPA receptors. However unlike LTP induction, the critical events in LTD induction involve the coupling of a potent Ca²⁺ signal generated by CF discharge with activation of mGluRs at parallel fibre-Purkinje cell synapses.

v

Although an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ in postsynaptic Purkinje cells is required for cerebellar LTD, this does not involve NMDA receptors.

Cerebellar LTD is long-lasting. It obeys Hebbian rules, and the Hebbian nature of cerebellar LTD also provides for associativity. Also, as noted, LTD is specific to stimulated synapses.

It is generally agreed that the common biochemical pathway for the induction and expression of both hippocampal LTP and cerebellar LTD is an elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺, an activation of enzymatic cascades, and a modification of postsynaptic AMPA and metabotropic sub-types of glutamate receptors.

Storage of initial information, a type of short term memory, lasts minutes to hours and involves changes in the strength of existing synaptic connections by protein phosphorylation (through second messenger-mediated modifications by kinases). The long term changes that persist for weeks and months are stored at the same site, but may involve activation of genes, with the subsequent expression of new proteins, and growth of new connections, including an increase in the number of presynaptic terminals. A recently discovered family of genes, called *immediate early genes* (IEGs), are not normally active, but rapidly become activated by brief bursts of action potentials. As master switches initiating long term changes in the brain, IEGs encode transcription factors, proteins that regulate the expression of other genes. There is evidence that impulse activity increases the expression of genes that encode trophic factors, which are proteins that promote the survival of neurones.

Artificial neuronal networks with plasticity rules derived from hippocampal LTP have been shown to have a very large storage capacity and be able to produce an optimal classification of input signals. Similarly, artificial networks designed according to cerebellar cortex circuitry exhibit properties of complex motor learning and adaptation.

AUTHOR

Ahmad Hashemi-Sakhtsari

Human Systems Integration Group Information Technology Division

Dr Ahmad Hashemi is a Research Scientist with DSTO's information Technology Division. He has joined DSTO after having worked as a researcher in Universities in the UK and Australia. He has also worked in the Australian telecommunication industry. He is a Biomedical Electronics Engineer with research interest in diverse areas of Automatic Speech Recognition, Neuroscience including Cognitive Neurophysiology, Electrophysiology, and Biomedical Signal Acquisition and Processing.

Foreword

Defence research programmes overseas are incorporating neurophysiological mechanisms and properties into system architectures in order to overcome limitations of current information technology. Exploiting the unique mechanisms present in natural neuronal networks and applying these to information processing architectures and algorithms provides systems which are intelligent and adaptive, thus facilitating command, control and intelligence organisation, and human performance evaluation and cognitive modelling. The US Defence Advance Research Projects Agency (DARPA) has a considerable programme to investigate the advantages offered by cognitive and neuroscience research.

This technical report is aimed at introducing some of the relevant concepts related to the way neurones communicate, and their activity-dependent structural modification that may well produce significant benefits to future systems. Areas such as machine learning, memory management, speed of recall from databases, and dealing with complex queries could benefit.

This review paper explores neurophysiological mechanisms and components which support forms of knowledge and skill acquisition, retention and expression, as well as sensing and pattern recognition. The development of artificial neural mechanisms based on these biological features and properties is an important area in future research and development. Artificial neuronal networks with enhanced classification and pattern matching performance, larger storage capacity, and better adaptation "skills" are being developed. It is suggested that such work needs to be pursued in order to provide and maintain a leading edge in defence capability. DSTO-TR-0345

Ì

Contents

1. Introduction	13
1.1. Steps in processing memories	14
1.2. Working memory	
2. Functional Anatomy of Neurones	16
3. Neuronal Communication	
3.1. A synapse	
4. Synaptic Transmission	21
4.1. Transmission at electrical synapses	
4.2. Transmission at chemical synapses	
4.2.1. Excitatory synapses	
4.2.2. Excitatory neurotransmitters	
4.2.3. Inhibitory synapses	
4.2.4. Inhibitory neurotransmitters	
4.2.5. Presynaptic inhibition	26
5. Synaptic Plasticity	27
6. Associative Learning	
6.1. Classical conditioning mechanism in Aplysia - An implicit fo	orm of
learning	28
7. Long-Term Synaptic Potentiation	31
7.1. Functional anatomy of the hippocampus	
7.2. Long-term potentiation in the hippocampus	
7.2.1. Induction of LTP	
7.2.2. Maintenance of LTP	
7.2.3. Expression of LTP	
7.3. Hippocampal LTP relationships to learning and memory	
7.3.1. A two stage learning hypothesis	48
7.4. Relationship between development and structural modificat	
involved in learning and memory	
7.5. Pharmacological modulation of learning and memory	
8. Decreasing Synaptic Strength	
8.1. Long-term depression in the cerebellum	50
8.1.1. Mechanisms of cerebellar LTD induction	
8.1.2. Properties of cerebellar LTD	52
9. Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity in Artificial Neuronal Netwo	rks.54
10. Conclusions	56
Acknowledgments	58
R-former and	59
References	

DSTO-TR-0345

-

Receptor Mechanisms - Definition of Some Common Terms

- **Ion Channel -** A protein that can form an aqueous pore through which ions cross the cell membrane. This flow of ions determines cell excitability and its firing properties, the main ions being sodium, potassium, calcium and chloride.
- **Receptor** A protein molecule which is capable of selectively binding a drug, hormone or neurotransmitter, thereby eliciting a physiological response. Transmitter receptors can be grouped into two superfamilies. One family consists of ion channels which produce fast synaptic transmission lasting for milliseconds. The other group does not form channels. Instead these receptors are indirectly linked to their effectors, including channels, through guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP)-binding proteins (G-proteins), and have a modulatory role. The G-protein linked biochemical effects are slow in onset, and they last longer than the directly gated receptor responses.
- Ligand Any substance that binds to a particular type of receptor.
- **Agonist** A drug, hormone or transmitter substance that elicits a cellular response when it combines with its receptors.
- **Antagonist** A drug that binds to receptors without itself producing a biological response but that, rather, decreases the effect of agonists.

DSTO-TR-0345

1. Introduction

Learning is acquisition of new information, a new skill or a new behaviour pattern. Memory is storage (consolidation) of what has been learnt, maintenance, or remembering (retrieval) of what has been stored. Memory allows us to cope with environmental demands, adapting to changes in conditions of life. It also allows us to modify our behaviour by experience.

Different regions of brain are believed to be involved in storing memories. These are prefrontal cortex (Artola and Singer, 1993), temporal lobes, in particular the hippocampus (Zola-Morgan and Squire, 1990), and the cerebellum (Thompson, 1990). Figure 1 shows various brain structures associated with memory.

The role of temporal lobes, particularly the hippocampus, in memory was established during 1940s and 50s. Wilder G Penfield, a neuro-surgeon at the Montreal Neurological Institute, began to use electrical stimulation to map motor, sensory and language functions in the cortex of more than 1000 patients undergoing neurosurgery for the relief of epilepsy. During these explorations, memory-like responses were elicited from the temporal lobes. Additional evidence came in the 1950s from the study of a few patients who underwent bilateral removal of the hippocampus and neighbouring regions in the temporal lobe as treatment for epilepsy. In the first and best-studied case, described by Brenda Milner of the Montreal Neurological Institute (Scoville and Milner, 1957; Milner, 1966), the patient had lost the capacity to form new long-term memories. This patient had an intact



Figure 1. Many structures in the brain are involved in learning and memory. Particular attention has however been paid to Hippocampus and cerebellum. short-term memory, but lacked the ability to translate what he learned from shortterm to long-term memory. For example, he could converse normally with the hospital staff, but could not remember them even though he saw them every day.

Researchers agree that lesions of the temporal lobes severely impair forms of learning and memory that require a conscious record. These types of learning are commonly called "declarative" or *explicit*. Those forms of learning that do not utilise conscious participation remain surprisingly intact in patients with temporal lobe lesions; they are referred to as "procedural", non-declarative or *implicit* (Kandel and Hawkins, 1992).

Explicit learning is fast and may take place after only one training trial, so called "one-shot" learning. It often involves association of simultaneous stimuli and permits storage of information about a single event that happens in a particular time and place; it therefore affords a sense of familiarity about previous events, as it can be brought to mind and be reflected upon. In contrast, implicit learning is slow and accumulates through repetition over many trials. It often involves association of sequential stimuli and permits storage of information about predictive relations between events. Implicit learning is expressed primarily by improved performance of certain tasks without the subject being able to describe just what has been learned, and it involves memory systems that do not draw on the contents of the general knowledge of the individual. In the case of implicit learning, experience alters behaviour nonconsciously. Implicit learning is thought to be expressed through activation of the particular sensory and motor systems engaged by the learning task; it is acquired and retained by the plasticity inherent in these neuronal systems. As a result, implicit learning can be studied in various reflex systems in either vertebrates or invertebrates. Indeed, even simple invertebrate animals show excellent reflexive learning (Kandel and Hawkins, 1992; Young and Concar, 1992).

1.1. Steps in processing memories

There are three steps involved in processing memories:

Immediate Memory -	This memory is labile. It only lasts for a short time when attention is being paid to a task.
Short-term memory -	Consolidation of meaningful events occurs during this period. This memory is still vulnerable, and may equate with "working memories" retrieved from store. During this phase current sensory data is compared with stored knowledge, allowing sequential planning for the next contingency. As will be discussed in depth, it is believed that short term memories involve temporary facilitation of passage of information through the synapse, perhaps by the release of more <i>neurotransmitter</i> .
Long-term memory -	It is presumed that remote long-lasting memories require permanent modification of synaptic structures. Such memories are retained despite periods of unconsciousness, hypothermia, etc. These demand a large storage capacity, so it takes time to recall them. A delay in cueing is a common

experience. The problem of recall (the memory of a memory that can be activated) remains a crucial problem.

Conversion of short term memory to long term stores depends on (i) the state of arousal and (ii) the number of repetitions. Perhaps each time a signal passes it makes it easier for subsequent similar signals to overcome synaptic "resistance". It is yet to be demonstrated that learning may involve reverberating circuits. The primary role of the hippocampus appears to be to consolidate new associations for days to weeks. Although hippocampus helps us to form new memories, it can not be the final storage site, for many old memories survive its destruction. Judging from studies of patients with amnesia, older memories are stored in the cortex, and not the hippocampus. However, the neural architecture of the temporal lobe indicate that the hippocampus and cortex engage in an intense dialogue. For a recent reference on time-limited role of hippocampus in memory storage see Zola-Morgan and Squire (1990).

1.2. Working memory

The combination of moment-to-moment awareness and instant retrieval of archived information constitutes working memory. Working memory enables us to hold fleeting material in our heads so that we can build and understand complex sentences. This type of memory would come into play if, for example, one was to read off a serial number in order to write it down. Lines of evidence indicate that the operations of working memory are carried out in a part of the brain known as the prefrontal lobes of the cerebral cortex (Goldman-Rakic, 1992). The prefrontal cortex is necessary for retrieving the products of such associative learning from long-term storage elsewhere in the brain for use in the task at hand.

It is proposed that there are multiple memory systems in the brain (Squire, 1992; Macdonald and White, 1993), and that, in particular, prefrontal cortex is divided into multiple domains, each specialised for encoding a different kind of information, such as the location of objects, the feature of objects and, additionally in human, semantic and mathematical knowledge (Funahashi et al., 1989; Goldman-Rakic, 1992). Indeed, it is interesting to note that brain seems to hold visual information received in the form of words and pictures in different areas of the temporal lobe (see Young and Concar, 1992), and recalling or thinking about particular images activates those same areas.

2. Functional Anatomy of Neurones

The basic unit of the nervous system is the individual nerve cell, or neuron. However, only about 10 percent of the cells in the nervous system are neurones, the remainder are glial cells, which probably metabolically sustain the neurones and physically support them.

As shown in figure 2, the neuron can be divided structurally into 3 parts, each associated with a particular function: (1) the *dendrites* and *cell body*, (2) the *axon*, and (3) the *axon terminals*. The dendrites form a series of highly branched cell outgrowths (some 10-100 per neuron) as extensions of the cell membrane of the neuron cell body. The dendrites and cell body are the site of most of the specialised junctions with other neurones through which signals are passed to the cell. The axon, or nerve fibre, is a single long process extending from the cell body, usually considerably longer than dendrites. The axon can give off branches called collaterals along its course, and near the end it undergoes considerable branching into numerous axon terminals. The last part of axon terminal is enlarged and is responsible for transmitting a signal from the neuron to the cell it contacts.



Figure 2. Diagrammatic representation of a neuron.

Neurones assume many different shapes, depending on their role and sometimes the axon and dendrites are hard to distinguish. Figure 3 shows three types of neurones found in the hippocampus and cerebellum.



Figure 3. Structural variety of neurones, shown as tracings from Golgi stains, contributes to the vast capacity of the brain to store, retrieve, use and express information as well as to experience emotion, and control movement.

In most cells, the threshold of the *initial segment*, as shown in figure 2, is lower than that of their dendrites and cell body. The initial segment is activated first. The action potential generated in the initial segment then propagates both down the axon and back over the cell body. Synapses next to the initial segment have a greater influence on cell activity than those at the end of the dendrites, and thus synaptic placement provides a mechanism for giving different inputs varying influence on the output of a post-synaptic cell.

Neurones are divided into 3 classes: *afferent* neurones, *efferent* neurones and *interneurones*. The afferent neurones carry information from the periphery to the central nervous system (CNS). Efferent neurones transmit the final integrated information from the CNS to the effector organs. Those efferent neurones which innervate skeletal muscle are called motor neurones. The third group of nerve cells, the interneurones, both originate and terminate within the CNS, and 99% of all nerve cells belong to this group. The interneurones and their connections, in large part, account for learning and memory.

3. Neuronal Communication

A neuron that has been excited conveys information to other neurones by generating impulses known as *action potentials*. These signals propagate like waves down the length of the cell's single axon and are converted to chemical signals at *synapses*.

The sodium concentration in the extracellular space is about 10 times the intracellular concentration. When a neuron is at rest, its external membrane maintains an electrical potential difference of about -70 mV (the inner surface is negative relative to the outer surface). At rest, the membrane is 50 to 75 times more permeable to potassium ions than to sodium ions, and it is these potassium ions rather than sodium ions that govern the resting potential. When the cell is stimulated to decrease the voltage gradient, or to depolarise the membrane, the permeability to sodium increases, leading to an inrush of positive charges. This inrush triggers an impulse, a momentary reversal of the membrane potential. The rising phase is called depolarisation. After about 1 ms the sodium permeability declines, and the membrane potential returns to -70 mV. Potassium conductance is increased during this repolarisation phase. The impulse is initiated at the junction of cell body and the axon and is conducted away from the cell body. The action potential measures about 100 mV in amplitude and 1 ms in duration. Figure 4 shows an action potential. The sodium permeability mechanism remains refractory for a few milliseconds after each explosion. This limits to 200 or less per second the rate at which action potentials can be generated.

Axons are not good conductors as the resistance along the axis is high and the membrane resistance is low. The positive charge that enters the axon during the action potential is dissipated in 1 or 2 mm. In order to travel distances that may reach centimetres, the action potential must be frequently regenerated along the way. This limits the maximum speed at which an impulse travels to about 100 meters per second. Thus, action potentials are relatively low frequency, stereotypical signals that are conducted at a snail's pace. Fleeting thoughts must depend on the relative timing of impulses conducted over many axons in parallel, and on thousands of connections made by each one.

Some neurones such as the pyramidal cells in the hippocampus have dendritic membrane containing voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels. This means that when depolarisation in the dendrite reaches a certain threshold, these channels open, permitting Ca²⁺ to flood into the cell. The rise in Ca²⁺ concentration causes further depolarisation and the opening of other voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels in neighbouring dendritic membranes. Under such conditions, a spike is produced in the dendrite. Therefore, dendrites are semi-independent processing units that can "make decisions", suggesting that under some circumstances the "unit" of processing may really be the dendritic branch (Churchland and Sejnowski, 1992).

3.1. A synapse

A synapse is an anatomically specialised junction between two neurones where the electric activity in one neuron influences the excitability of the second (see figure 4). The human brain has about 100 billion neurones and 100,000 billion synapses. If, as neuroscientists believe, learning results from small adjustments to the strengths of these synapses, then the origin of the brain immense capacity is clear. Even storing



Figure 4. Characteristics of an action potential and direction of travel of the depolarising impulse along the nerve cell axon.

information at the low average rate of one bit per synapse, which would only require two levels of synaptic activity (high and low), the structure as a whole would generate 10¹⁴ bits.

Most synapses occur between the axon terminals of one neuron and the cell body or dendrites of a second. The neurones conducting information towards synapses are called *presynaptic* neurones, and those conducting information away are *postsynaptic* neurones. Figure 5 shows how in a multi-neuronal pathway, a single neuron can be postsynaptic to one group of cells and, at the same time, presynaptic to another.

Every postsynaptic neuron has thousands of synaptic junctions on the surface of its dendrites or cell body. The level of excitability of this cell depends on the number of

synapses active at any one time, and how many are excitatory or inhibitory. In this manner, postsynaptic neurones function as neural integrators, i.e. their output reflects the sum of all the incoming bits of information arriving in the form of excitatory and inhibitory synaptic inputs.



Figure 5. Diagrammatic representation of connections between pre- and post-synaptic neurones.

4. Synaptic Transmission

This is the transfer of signal from one cell to another. Two distinct modes of transmission are known, one electrical and the other chemical.

4.1. Transmission at electrical synapses

At electrical synapses, currents generated by an impulse in the presynaptic nerve terminal spread directly to the next neuron through a low-resistance pathway. The sites for electrical communication between cells have been identified in electron micrograph as *gap junctions*, in which the usual intercellular space of several tens of nanometer is reduced to about 2 nm. Pairs of particles, each made of protein sub-units, span the gap junction. The unit constituted by a particle pair has been termed a *connexon*. Most electrical synapses do not exhibit rectification, but conduct equally well in both directions. One advantage of an electrical synapse is the absence of the synaptic delay of 0.5 to 1 ms associated with chemical synaptic transmission. Electrical coupling can also produce sub-threshold or integrative actions between nerve cells. Multiple electrical synapses converging on a neuron have simple additive effects with little fluctuation.

Surprisingly, in addition to producing excitation, current flow between cells is known to produce inhibition at a specialised site.

Electrical synapses are not studied in this report.

4.2. Transmission at chemical synapses

At chemical synapses, the axon terminal of the presynaptic neuron ends in a slight swelling, the synaptic knob (synaptic bouton). A narrow (20 nm) extracellular space, the synaptic cleft, separating the pre- and post-synaptic neurones prevents direct propagation of the action potential from the presynaptic neuron to the postsynaptic cell. Information is transmitted across the synaptic cleft by means of a chemical agent stored in small, membrane-enclosed vesicles in the synaptic knob. When an action potential in the presynaptic neuron reaches the axon terminal and depolarises the synaptic knob, small quantities of the chemical transmitter are released from the synaptic knob into synaptic cleft. Neurotransmitters are released in small, uniformly sized packets, with each nerve impulse prompting the discharge of a large number of packets. During the peak of the action potential (neuronal depolarisation), Ca2+ enters the terminals through voltage-regulated Ca2+ channels. Ca2+ triggers and coordinates neurotransmitter release. Immediately after this neuronal activity, the intracellular Ca²⁺ is rapidly buffered, sequestered and extruded. There are about 5000 transmitter molecules per vesicle at central synapses. Once released from the vesicles, the transmitter diffuses across the synaptic cleft and combines with receptor sites on the postsynaptic cell membrane lying under the synaptic knob, referred to as subsynaptic membrane (figure 6).

The combination of the transmitter with the receptor sites causes ion channels to open, changing the permeability of the subsynaptic membrane and hence the membrane potential of the postsynaptic cell, leading to the generation of action potential in the postsynaptic neuron. There is a synaptic delay of less than 1 ms between excitation of pre-synaptic terminal and membrane potential changes in the



Figure 6. A chemical synapse.

postsynaptic cell. Chemical synapses provide a very large amplification mechanism. Synaptic activity is terminated when the transmitter is chemically transformed into an ineffective substance, simply diffuses away from the receptor sites, or is taken back by the synaptic knob. Figure 7 shows transmission across chemical synapses. When two neurones are electrically active at the same time (A), their synapses may grow more efficient such that the postsynaptic neuron fires more readily than usual (B) in response to excitatory signals from the presynaptic neuron.

A third type of synapse in which electrical and chemical synaptic transmission are combined is also known. Perhaps, more frequently, postsynaptic cells receive chemical and electrical synaptic inputs and integrate them.

4.2.1. Excitatory synapses

An excitatory synapse, when activated, increases the likelihood that the membrane potential will reach threshold and the cell will undergo an action potential. Here the permeability of the subsynaptic membrane to positively charges ions is increased. At the subsynaptic membrane of excitatory synapses there occurs the simultaneous movement of a small number of potassium ion out of the cell and a large number of sodium ion (and a small amount of calcium ion) into the cell. The net movement of positive ion is into the neuron, which slightly depolarises the postsynaptic cell. This potential change, called the *excitatory postsynaptic potential* (EPSP), is a local, passively propagated potential (figure 8); its only function is to help trigger an action potential.

A single EPSP in a motor neuron is estimated to be only 0.5 mV whereas changes up to 25 mV are necessary to depolarise the membrane from its resting level to threshold. To set the intensity of its output, each neuron must continually integrate



Figure 7. A simplified diagram showing neuronal communication, and generation of impulses in postsynaptic neurones.

up to 1000 synaptic inputs. These inputs do not add up in a simple linear manner. Each neuron is a sophisticated computer.



Figure 8. Excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP). Stimulation of the presynaptic neuron is marked by the arrow. Note the short synaptic delay before the postsynaptic cell responds.

There is a general depolarisation of the membrane towards threshold when excitatory synaptic activity predominates. This is known as *facilitation*. Successive stimulation of the same pre-synaptic fibre leads to *temporal summation*. This is providing the effect of preceding stimulus has not died away. Another form, *Spatial summation*, occurs when EPSPs originated at different places on the postsynaptic neuron summate.

4.2.2. Excitatory neurotransmitters

Glutamic acid is the major *excitatory neurotransmitter* in the brain. Cortical neurones express different types of glutamate receptors (Monaghan et al., 1989; Watkins et al., 1990). These could fall into two major classes:

- N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors are linked to calcium (Ca²⁺) channels, modulated by glycine (Thomson, 1990) and blocked by Mg²⁺ at resting potential. The block is relieved by depolarisation (Mayer et al., 1984).
- (ii) Non-NMDA receptors are divided into ionotropic receptors which are linked to sodium (Na⁺) and Ca²⁺ channels, and metabotropic receptors which are linked through G proteins to metabolic pathways. The phospholipase-Clinked metabotropic receptors are activated selectively by trans-1-aminocyclopentane-1,3 dicarboxylate, referred to as ACPD (Siegelbaum and Kandel, 1991).

 α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate (AMPA) are a class of non-NMDA ionotropic receptors (Blake et al., 1988) which are permeable to monovalent cations. AMPA receptors mediate non-NMDA fast excitatory postsynaptic potentials, whilst NMDA receptors mediate delayed Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ entry by initiating action potentials at an already depolarised membrane.

Ionotropic receptors directly gate ion channels and mediate fast, powerful responses allowing precise control of neuronal activity (Hille, 1992). In contrast, metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) indirectly modify the activity of ionic channels through second messenger-mediated cascades of intracellular enzymatic activities and mediate slow synaptic responses from seconds to minutes or even hours. Second messengers include Ca²⁺, cyclic AMP, cyclic GMP, and phospholipid degradation products such as inositol triphosphate (IP3) and arachidonic acid. One of the most important roles of second messengers is to regulate phosphorylation reactions. Phosphorylation (adding or attaching a phosphate group to other proteins) alters the conformation of channel proteins in the membrane, thus altering membrane conductance, thereby increasing the activity of some cells and decreasing the activity of others. Kinases, calcium/calmodulin dependent kinase II (CamKII) and protein kinase C (PKC), are proteins that phosphorylate other proteins. Phosphorylation is commonly stimulated by transmitters and drugs that act via G protein-coupled receptors.

4.2.3. Inhibitory synapses

Activation of an inhibitory synapse produces changes in the postsynaptic cell which lessen the likelihood that the cell will undergo an action potential. The combination

of the chemical transmitter with the receptor sites on the inhibitory subsynaptic membrane increases the permeabilities to potassium or chloride ions depending on the inhibitory receptor type, but not to sodium. The net effect is an increased negativity (*hyperpolarisation*) called an *inhibitory postsynaptic potential* (IPSP, figure 9). Increased potassium permeability at an activated inhibitory synapse makes the membrane potential closer to potassium equilibrium potential of -90 mV. This hyperpolarisation is of slow onset and is known as a slow or late IPSP lasting up to 100 msec. Thus, when a neuron is acted upon by an inhibitory synapse, its membrane potential is moved farther away from the threshold for activation of an impulse.





The equilibrium potential of chloride is very close to the resting membrane potential. An increase in membrane permeability to chloride rapidly leads to inhibition. This greater chloride permeability is important when EPSPs and IPSPs arrive at the postsynaptic cell simultaneously because stabilisation of the membrane at its resting potential makes it less likely that it will change towards threshold for action potential generation.

4.2.4. Inhibitory neurotransmitters

 γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) is present within a large proportion of neurones in the CNS, where it is the major *inhibitory neurotransmitter* controlling synaptic transmission and neuronal excitability. Two distinct types of receptors mediate synaptic transmission by GABA in the CNS, GABA_A- and GABA_B-receptors (Bowery et al., 1981; Hill and Bowery, 1981).

GABA_A-receptors are, by definition, linked to chloride channels, and are activated by isoguvacine, modulated by barbiturates and benzodiazepines, and antagonised by bicuculline. GABA_A-receptors are comprised of a hetero-pentameric complex with at leats 4 major subunit binding sites, together with an integral chloride ion channel (Kerr and Ong, 1992).

Activation of presynaptic GABA_A-receptors normally leads to a net efflux of chloride ions causing partial depolarisation that blocks impulse transmission towards the

synaptic terminal, whereas activation of postsynaptic $GABA_A$ -receptors causes hyperpolarisation of the cell membrane and, thus, decreases sensitivity of the postsynaptic neurones to excitatory inputs (Krogsgaard-Larsen et al., 1988).

GABA_B-receptors are heterogenous. They are located both pre- and postsynaptically, as well as on glial cells. The receptors are linked through different G proteins to pre-synaptic Ca²⁺ and/or post-synaptic K⁺ channels. Neuronal GABA_Breceptors either inhibit Ca²⁺ currents or activate K⁺ currents depending on the cellular localisation of the receptor (Bowery, 1993).

Like GABA_A-receptors, GABA_B-receptors are found as presynaptic receptors, including autoreceptors, and as postsynaptic receptors. Presynaptic receptors modulate transmitter release from synaptic terminals, whereas autoreceptors inhibit the release of GABA itself, whilst postsynaptic receptors are responsible for inhibiting excitability of the postsynaptic cells. Thus depending on the brain region examined, GABA_B-receptor activation can decrease neurotransmitter release, hyperpolarise postsynaptic neurones, or act presynaptically to inhibit GABA release at inhibitory neurones (Kerr and Ong, 1992).

Fast and slow types of excitatory and inhibitory synaptic responses are observed in central neurones. Fast IPSPs are produced by an increase in chloride permeability, and slow IPSPs by an increase in potassium permeability. It should however be noted that not all slow IPSPs in the brain are GABA generated (GABAergic), e.g. they can also be adrenergic and serotonergic.

4.2.5. Presynaptic inhibition

As well as inhibition through activation of an inhibitory synapse which hyperpolarises the postsynaptic cell, a second type of inhibitory influence, called *presynaptic inhibition*, provides a means by which certain inputs to the postsynaptic cell can be selectively altered.

Presynaptic inhibition works by affecting the transmission at a single excitatory synapse. Transmitters are released in packets or quanta, each containing several thousand molecules. The presynaptic effect of the inhibitory transmitter would be to reduce the number of quanta released from the excitatory terminal. This synapse would, in turn, influence the postsynaptic cell, reducing the size of the EPSP.

Presynaptic inhibition naturally implies the existence of axo-axonic synapses between inhibitory and excitatory terminals. Also note that inhibitory neurones themselves can be inhibited presynaptically, whilst autoreceptors can be activated by diffusion of GABA from the synapse back onto the presynaptic region, thus inhibiting further transmitter release.

5. Synaptic Plasticity

Plasticity is the tendency of synapses and neuronal circuits to change as a result of activity. Synaptic plasticity is the basis for the informative connectionist neural models. It multiplies the complexity provided by any fixed cast of molecular characters or cellular functions.

Synaptic plasticity needs to capture all the information related to the features of preand postsynaptic activity, and has to produce long-lasting modifications in synaptic efficacy. There are many ways that synaptic efficacy might be altered. For example, transmitter release can be enhanced by a small increase in the amount of calcium that enters a nerve terminal with each action potential. The probability of postsynaptic receptor activation can be changed, and on a longer time scale, variations in activity can alter the number of functional receptors. In order to produce a permanent memory store, *de novo* synthesis of ion channels, neurotransmitter receptors, or other proteins in synaptic structures, are envisioned as possibilities. Beyond changes in the function of synapse, activity may alter the number or location of synapses themselves. Axons sprout new endings when their neighbours become silent, and the terminal branches of dendritic arbors are constantly remodelled. Therefore elongation and branching of dendrites and additional budding of spines at synaptic junctions may be amongst changes occurring in synaptic structures to explain persistence of a memory.

Proteins are degraded on a time scale that ranges from minutes to days. Maintenance of memories that may last a lifetime requires more stable alterations, such as those associated with persistent changes in gene expression. A recently discovered family of genes called *immediate early genes* (IEGs), which are not normally active, but are activated rapidly by brief bursts of action potentials, may provide a crucial link. As expected of master switches that initiate long term changes in the brain, IEGs encode transcription factors (Cole et al., 1989; Wisden et al., 1990), proteins that regulate the expression of other genes. Some evidence has been obtained that impulse activity increases the expression of genes that encode trophic factors, proteins that promote the survival of neurones. Additionally, genetic approaches have established that the transcription factor CREB is involved in long-term memory (Schulman, 1995; Bartsch et al., 1995). Postsynaptic CREB phosphorylation via calmodulin and a Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase is shown to be evoked by synaptic stimuli, including those inducing potentiation and depression of synaptic strength (Deisseroth et al., 1996). Thus, the adage "use it or lose it" may well have a specific biochemical correlate. In addition to protein kinases, there is evidence for the involvement of proteases (calpain) and phospholipases (phospholipase A₂) in the biochemical processes associated with several forms of synaptic plasticity (Massicotte and Baudry, 1990). These play a critical role in the initiation of long-term synaptic potentiation and long-term depression, as well as in the induction of genes that permit long-term expression of altered synaptic states (Schulman, 1995).

6. Associative Learning

Donald O Hebb in his book, *The Organisation of Behavior*, in 1949 suggested a relationship as a basis for the formation of new neural ensembles during learning. He proposed that association could be formed by coincident neural activity: "When axon of cell A is near enough to excite cell B and repeatedly or persistently takes part in firing it, some growth process or metabolic change takes place in one or both cells such that efficacy of A, as one of the cells firing B, is increased." Thus a "Hebbian" synapse becomes stronger if the neurones it links to are both active at the same time (see figure 10).

Ladislav Tauc and Eric Kandel proposed a second associative learning rule in 1963 while working at the institute Marey in Paris on the nervous system of the marine snail *Aplysia*. They found that the synaptic connection between two neurones could be strengthened without activity of the postsynaptic cell when a third neuron acts on the presynaptic neuron. The third neuron, called a modulatory neuron, enhances transmitter release from the terminals of the presynaptic neuron. They suggested this mechanism could take on associative properties if action potentials in the presynaptic cell were coincident with action potentials in the modulatory neuron (a pre-modulatory associative mechanism). This association is shown in figure 10.



Figure 10. Two cellular mechanisms that are hypothesised for associative changes in synaptic strength during learning.

In general, however, some synaptic modifications have been found that are not Hebbian. Figure 11 shows variations in conditions for induction and site of expression of plasticity, each of which requires concurrent activity in two elements.

6.1. Classical conditioning mechanism in *Aplysia* - An implicit form of learning

Aplysia is used in studies of the biological basis of learning because its simple nervous system consists of only 20000 relatively large neurones. The gill-withdrawal reflex has been well studied, where the animal withdraws the gill in response to a stimulus being applied to another part of its body such as the mantle shelf or the fleshy extension called the siphon. An increase in the release of neurotransmitter due to activity-dependent facilitation is a mechanism that contributes to conditioning. The molecular steps in activity-dependent facilitation are shown in figure 12. Serotonin released from the modulatory neuron by an unconditioned stimulus

DSTO-TR-0345



Figure 11. Various forms of potentiated synapses. (1) Traditional Hebbian synapse. (2) The same conditions for induction lead also to potentiation of another synapse (C-B) from an unstimulated Cell, C. This is heterosynaptic potentiation. In (3) the condition for induction involves the activity in neurones A and C, and even though activity in B is not required, the A-B synapse may be potentiated nonetheless. This is known as pre-modulatory coincidence mechanism. In (4) concurrent activity in A and B is needed to trigger plasticity at the A-B synapse, but once triggered, then synapses between A and other neurones, e.g. A-C, are strengthened (from Churchland and Sejnowski, 1992).

activates an enzyme called adenylyl cyclase in the sensory neuron. When the sensory neuron is active, levels of calcium are elevated within the cell. The calcium binds to calmodulin, which in turn binds to adenylyl cyclase, enhancing its ability to synthesise cyclic AMP from ATP. The cyclic AMP then acts as a second messenger and activates a protein kinase, which leads to the release of a substantially greater amount of transmitter than occurs normally. This increase in transmitter is due to an increase in calcium influx, and also due to action of serotonin in mobilising transmitter vesicles from a storage pool to the release sites at the membrane. In the latter action, cyclic AMP acts in parallel with protein kinase C. Cyclic AMP plays an important role in certain elementary types of implicit learning and memory storage, as it also activates a number of potassium channels. Phosphorylation of potassium channels, which regulate the duration of depolarisation exhibited by presynaptic terminals invaded by an action potential, also regulates the amount of transmitter release at synapses (Kandel, 1982).

This model which readily accounts for short-term regulation of transmitter release, has been further elaborated to incorporate links between second messengers and the transcription apparatus of the cell (Mayford et al., 1992) so as to account for the long-term modifications in transmitter release to subserve long-term changes in synaptic efficacy. Sudhof et al. (1989) later proposed a model in which phosphorylation of a protein associated with synaptic vesicles regulates the pool of vesicles that can participate in transmitter release. Cyclic AMP second-messenger system plays an

DSTO-TR-0345

important role in the persistent phase of such long-term modifications (Schulman, 1995).



Figure 12. Biochemical processes associated with classical conditioning in *Aplysia*, an implicit form of learning.

7. Long-Term Synaptic Potentiation

It is difficult to find cellular changes that are identifiable as learning dependent. This is because minimally it must be shown that the changes are directly owed to effects of experience, and it must be shown that the changes in behaviour are dependent on cellular modifications. As well, it must be shown that there is modification in the cell's responses to the test stimulus, and that the modification lasts beyond the duration of the learning phase. Evidently, single -cell recordings, extracellular or preferably intracellular, are needed to determine whether these circumstances obtain. This can be exceptionally tricky for a number of reasons. For example, the prime postsynaptic site will obviously be on dendrites, and these tiny structures present great obstacles to intracellular recording. Controlling the cell's input, voltage, and diachronic biography is generally a very pernickety art. Care must be taken to exclude changes that might be occurring in other parts of the circuit, such as a network of inhibitory interneurones.

Long-term potentiation (LTP) is a persistent increase in synaptic efficacy that follows brief periods of stimulation. Attention has focused on synapses in the hippocampus because clinical and experimental data have identified it as a critical structure for the process of memory consolidation (Milner, 1972) and spatial memory (O'Keefe and Nadel, 1978). This region of the cortex is implicated in forms of memory that require conscious deliberation.

7.1. Functional anatomy of the hippocampus

As shown in figure 13, afferents from entorhinal cortex that make excitatory synapses on granule cell dendrites form the perforant path. Mossy fibres are granule cell axonal tracts in dentate gyrus that form excitatory synapses onto CA3 pyramidal cells. The dentate gyrus is separated from the hippocampus by hippocampal fissure. CA3 pyramidal cell axonal tracts that form excitatory synapses onto CA1 pyramidal cells are known as Schaffer collaterals.

7.2. Long-term potentiation in the hippocampus

In 1973, Terje Lømo, Tim Bliss and Tony Gardner-Medwin, while using microelectrodes to study electrical activity in the brain of rabbits in Per Andersen's laboratory in Oslo, Norway, found that sending sustained volley of artificial impulses (tetanic stimulation; 100 Hz, for 1 second) along the perforant path fibres entering the dentate gyrus of hippocampus resulted in a dramatic and long-lasting increase in the strengths of the synapses of granule cells. They tested the responses of postsynaptic cells to a low-frequency pulse before and after the experimental manipulation and discovered that the postsynaptic excitability was potentiated after the volley and remained potentiated for hours, as long as they could keep the preparation intact. They called this discovery Long-Term Potentiation (Bliss and Gardner-Medwin, 1973; Bliss and Lømo, 1973).

Long-term potentiation is typically induced with high frequency stimulus trains (50-400 Hz, 1-2 s). Such a high-frequency stimulation largely exceeds the normal physiological firing range. The induction of LTP by temporal pattern stimulation has been demonstrated using stimulus patterns that mimic the neural activity of the natural theta rhythm. Theta stimulation is composed of brief high-frequency bursts



Figure 13. Memory hardware including hippocampus and cortex. Some major excitatory synaptic pathways of hippocampus are also shown. The hippocampus is thought to be involved in storing recently learned information, while the cortex is essential for "working" memory and storing older memories.

(4-10 pulses at 200 Hz) delivered at 170-200 msec intervals. The enhancement of the NMDA component of the EPSP, when stimuli are delivered 200 ms apart, suggest that activity-dependent disinhibition would enable repetitive stimulation at a frequency of 5 Hz to induce long-term potentiation. Indeed, several studies report that stimuli or group of stimuli, delivered 200 ms apart, are extremely effective at inducing LTP. For example, Larson and Lynch (1986) report that LTP could be induced in area CA1 by as little as four stimuli delivered at 100 Hz, when these stimuli were delivered 200 ms after a similar group of pulses, called the "priming" stimulus. Alternatively, LTP can be induced by a burst of 2 to 10 stimuli at 100 Hz delivered about 200 ms after a single priming stimulus (Rose and Dunwiddie, 1986; Diamond et al., 1988). This type of priming stimulation has been reported to be effective in inducing LTP in the dentate gyrus and area CA1 both in vivo and in vitro (Larson et al., 1986; Larson and Lynch, 1989; Rose and Dunwiddie, 1986; Diamond et al., 1988). Tsukada et al. (1994) found that the magnitude of the induced LTP in CA1 differed largely according to the difference in the time structure in the interstimulus intervals of stimuli which had the same pulse number and the same mean frequency. Therefore, the temporal factors given by different correlations between successive inter-spike intervals are important in modulating the synaptic weight of CA1 neurones.

LTP is rapidly induced. Immediately following high-frequency stimulation of presynaptic axons, the size of the EPSP transiently increases to up to 500% of its baseline value. Most of this increase decays to a level 30 to 200% above baseline within about 5 minutes after tetanic stimulation. The early potentiation, lasting about 1 minute, is called post-tetanic potentiation (PTP), and may be due to short-term accumulation of calcium ions in the presynaptic terminal (Delaney et al., 1989). The persistent phase is known as LTP. Once induced, LTP is expressed as a persistent and synapse-specific increase in the amplitude of synaptic responses elicited by low-frequency stimulation of the excitatory afferents (see figure 14). All three major excitatory pathways of the hippocampus support LTP. These consist of axonal projections from the entorhinal cortex to the dentate gyrus (perforant path), dentate gyrus to area CA3 (mossy fibres), and area CA3 to area CA1 (Schaffer collaterals).

For more than a decade after its discovery, LTP's Hebbian behaviour baffled neuroscientists. It seemed that certain synapses had a mechanism for detecting when both the pre- and post-synaptic neurones, were simultaneously active. The breakthrough in finding the mechanism involved came in early 1980s with the discovery of a receptor known as the NMDA receptor.

The forms of LTP that occur in the perforant path-dentate granule cell synapse and the Schaffer collateral-CA1 pyramidal cell synapse are NMDA dependent (Collingridge et al., 1983; Morris et al., 1986; Errington et al., 1987), and have Hebbian characteristics (Brown et al., 1990). This Hebbian feature endows LTP in CA1 with *associativity*. When weak stimulation of one afferent pathway (which is itself insufficient to produce LTP) is temporally paired (or associated) with strong stimulation of another input pathway (capable of producing LTP), the weak pathway also undergoes LTP. This is shown in figure 15. By contrast, LTP in the mossy fibre to CA3 region does not depend on NMDA receptor activation, is not Hebbian, and is not associative (Chattarji et al., 1989; Staubli et al., 1990; Zalutsky and Nicoll, 1990). In fact under some conditions, LTP induction at Schaffer collateral synapses in hippocampal area CA1 is reported not to require NMDA receptor activation (Grover and Teyler, 1990).

Llinas and colleagues (Alonso et al., 1990) studied cells in layer II in slices of entorhinal cortex of the guinea pig and found non-Hebbian as well as Hebbian types of LTP. The Hebbian effect was found in the classical way, namely high-frequency tetanus delivered to the presynaptic fibres. The non-Hebbian effect was achieved by injecting a 5-Hz oscillating current into the postsynaptic cell itself for about 20 sec. Also, unlike Hebbian type, all the synapses of the cell receiving the oscillating current were affected. Llinas found through experiments with a NMDA receptor antagonist, AP5, (also known as APV; 2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid), that NMDA receptor is critical for maintenance as well as induction of this non-Hebbian type of LTP.

The presynaptic terminals of hippocampal synapses release an excitatory amino acid transmitter, which is most likely glutamate (Cotman and Nadler, 1981). This stimulates receptor molecules embedded in the membrane of postsynaptic neurones on specialisations known as dendritic spines. These small protuberances are connected to the dendrite by a thin neck (Harris and Landis, 1986). The receptors respond by opening channels in the membrane of the neuron, admitting ions and so triggering an electrical impulse. In the hippocampus the ionotropic receptors are of two main types, called AMPA and NMDA after chemicals that trigger them with particular vigour. AMPA receptors are permeable to monovalent cations (Jahr and


Figure 14. Long-term synaptic potentiation (LTP) in the hippocampus. (a) Schematic drawing of a hippocampal slice. (b) LTP of the perforant path to granule cell neuron synapse. (c) When the postsynaptic cell is voltage-clamped to prevent depolarisation during the tetanus, even a strong tetanic stimulus does not produce LTP. This implies that LTP is essentially Hebbian. (d) LTP can be induced by two methods. Lower graph: tetanic stimulation of presynaptic axons causes a shortlasting potentiation (post-tetanic potentiation, or PTP) followed by a persistent potentiation of the EPSP (LTP). Upper graph: lowfrequency stimulation of presynaptic axons paired with artificial depolarisation of the postsynaptic cell through current injection by an intracellular electrode also produces LTP, but no PTP (a, b and c from Levitan and Kaczmarek, 1991. *The neuron: Cell and Molecular Biology*. Oxford University Press; d from Madison and Schuman, 1991). Stevens, 1987; Mayer and Westbrook, 1987; Ascher and Nowak, 1988a), and are responsible for routine transmission across synapses. NMDA receptors are permeable to Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ (MacDermott et al., 1986), but current flow through this channel is normally prevented by extracellular Mg²⁺ binding to a site within the open channel, blocking the flow of other ions (Mayer and Westbrook, 1987). NMDA receptors put Hebb's rule into effect. This is because unlike most receptors, the NMDA receptor requires two triggers before it will activate to allow ionic traffic. The presynaptic neuron must deliver glutamate to bind to the receptor and the



Figure 15. Associative long-term potentiation. (a) Diagram depicting spatial relationships between a strong and a weak synaptic input. (b) Stimulation of the strong input produces LTP, but stimulation of the weak input alone does not. (c) When the strong and weak inputs are paired, the depolarisation produced by the strong input spreads to the site of the weak input and contributes to the induction of LTP.

postsynaptic neuron must coincidentally depolarise to dislodge magnesium ions blocking the NMDA channel (Mayer et al., 1984). This phenomenon may well occur by an electrostatic interaction between the divalent cation and the membrane potential (Madison and Schuman, 1991). The level of postsynaptic depolarisation required for LTP induction is only satisfied when a sufficient number of afferent fibres and synapses are activated. This property is called *cooperativity* (McNaughton et al., 1978). Thus, the NMDA receptor has associative or coincidence-detecting properties much as does the adenylyl cyclase in the implicit form of learning. However the temporal characteristics of NMDA receptors, a requirement for simultaneous activation, are better suited for explicit rather than implicit forms of learning. Additionally, as Hebb's rule demands, both events require neurones to be activated.

During low-frequency transmission, significant activation of the NMDA receptor system in the CA1 region of the hippocampus is prevented by GABA mediated synaptic inhibition which hyperpolarises neurones into a region where NMDA receptor-operated channels are substantially blocked by Mg²⁺. However during high frequency transmission, mechanisms are evoked that provide sufficient depolarisation of the postsynaptic membrane to reduce this block and thereby permit the induction of LTP. Davies et al. (1991) propose that this critical depolarisation is enabled because, during high-frequency transmission, GABA depresses its own release by an action on GABA_B autoreceptors. This permits sufficient NMDA receptor activation for the induction of LTP. Therefore during high-frequency stimulation a critical factor for the induction of LTP is depression of synaptic inhibition, brought about by the activation of GABA_B autoreceptors.

During tetanic stimulation, EPSPs resulting from activation of the AMPA receptors overlap and summate, producing a depolarisation large enough to relieve the Mg²⁺ block of the NMDA channels. It is this need for depolarisation that makes tetanic stimulation effective in inducing LTP, while low frequency stimulation is ineffective. This idea is reinforced by demonstrations that artificial depolarisation of the postsynaptic cell, via current passed through a microelectrode, coupled with lowfrequency stimulation can induce LTP (Stanton and Sejnowski, 1989). The artificial depolarisation (20 mV) prevents the blockade of the NMDA channel by Mg²⁺ so that when the transmitter is released it is able to produce current flow through the NMDA channel. This is shown in figure 16.

Once NMDA receptors open, they stay open for 100-200 msec during which there is an influx of Ca²⁺ (MacDermott et al., 1986) which, together with the activity of mGluRs, spark off a cascade of biochemical changes that bring about LTP.

The NMDA receptor thus perhaps lies at the molecular heart of memory. Manipulations that prevent NMDA receptor activation such as postsynaptic hyperpolarisation (Malinow and Miller, 1986), application of NMDA receptor antagonists (Collingridge et al., 1983; Maren et al., 1991 and 1992;), blocking the ionophore (Abraham and Mason, 1988), or intracellular injections of Ca²⁺ chelators (Lynch et al., 1983; Malenka et al., 1988) prevent LTP induction. In addition, potentiation is induced when the level of postsynaptic Ca²⁺ is artificially raised (Malenka et al., 1988).

Calcium influx into the postsynaptic cell through the unblocked NMDA receptor channel is critical for long-term potentiation, as it activates different types of protein kinases, including PKC and CamKII. Inhibitors of PKC and CamKII enzymes prevent the induction of LTP (Muller et al., 1990; Muller et al., 1994), and produce learning impairment in a number of behavioural paradigms including peck avoidance in chicks (Burchuladze et al., 1990; Serrano et al., 1994; Serrano et al., 1995) and avoidance learning in rats (Jerusalinsky et al., 1994). It has been reported that both short term memory and maintenance of LTP are particularly affected by the inhibitors of CamKII and PKC ((Izquierdo and Medina, 1995). Moreover, discrimination learning in rats is associated with a redistribution of hippocampal PKC (Olds et al., 1990). In recent years, mice deficient in genes coding for such enzymes involved in LTP induction have been found to exhibit learning impairments (Grant et al., 1992; Silva et al., 1992; Abelovich et al., 1993a; Abelovich et al., 1993b).



Figure 16. Pairing postsynaptic depolarisation with synaptic stimulation of synapses on CA1 hippocampal pyramidal neurones produces synapse-specific LTP, while pairing of postsynaptic hyperpolarisation with stimulation of synapses produces synapse-specific long-term depression (LTD). (a) Intracellular evoked EPSPs are shown at stimulated (stimulus 5 Hz, Schaffer) and unstimulated (control, subiculum) pathway synapses before and 30 minutes after pairing depolarising current injection with 5-Hz synaptic stimulation. The stimulated pathway exhibits associative LTP of the EPSP whereas the control, unstimulated input shows no change in synaptic strength. (b) Intracellular EPSPs evoked at stimulated and control pathway synapses before and 30 minutes after pairing a 20 mV hyperpolarisation at the cell soma with 5-Hz synaptic stimulation. The 5 Hz stimulus input activated during the hyperpolarisation shows associative LTD of synaptic evoked EPSPs, while synaptic strength of the silent input (control) is unaltered (from Stanton and Sejnowski, 1989).

Research indicates that mGluRs are also required for LTP induction in the hippocampus (Riedel and Reymann, 1993; Bortolotto et al., 1994), for both NMDA receptor-dependent and NMDA receptor independent forms (Bashir et al., 1993). Memory and LTP are blocked early on by antagonists of mGluRs (Izquierdo and Medina, 1995).

One of the most longstanding questions regarding LTP is whether it occurs as a result of persistent changes in the presynaptic terminal or in the postsynaptic cell. The very small size of brain synapses has hindered the direct experimental measurements that would resolve this question. It is useful to break the hypothetical LTP mechanisms down into three conceptual processes: *Induction, maintenance,* and *expression*. Induction refers to those processes that are involved in the initiation of LTP. Maintenance describes events that transfer induced potentiation into a sustained temporal domain. The maintenance processes are the changes that make LTP persist. The expression of LTP refers to processes responsible for "reading out" the maintained plasticity. Disruption of expression mechanisms may result in a reversible attenuation of LTP, since the plasticity is still sustained by the cellular mechanisms responsible for maintenance.

7.2.1. Induction of LTP

It is clear that there is a discrete and separable induction phase of LTP because NMDA antagonists and several protein kinase inhibitors block LTP if applied during, but not after, tetanic stimulation.

This component of LTP is postsynaptic since manipulations that affect only the postsynaptic cell can influence the induction of LTP. The injection of Ca²⁺ chelators and of protein kinase inhibitors into the postsynaptic cell, or preventing a postsynaptic cell from depolarising either by passing hyperpolarising current or by voltage clamping the postsynaptic membrane (see figure 14, c), can prevent LTP (Malinow and Miller, 1986; Kelso et al., 1986).

The induction of LTP therefore appears to depend on postsynaptic depolarisation, leading to the influx of calcium and the subsequent activation of second messenger kinases which phosphorylate proteins. Phosphorylation reactions that modify ionic channels, neurotransmitter receptors, or synaptic proteins involved in the regulation of transmitter release are potential candidates for producing at least short-term regulation of synaptic efficacy (Hemmings et al., 1989).

7.2.2. Maintenance of LTP

The nature and location of the modifications responsible for the long-term maintenance and expression of synaptic efficacy, on the other hand, are still a matter of controversy (Baudry and Davis, 1991). Initially, Bliss et al. (1986) provided evidence for enhanced presynaptic release of glutamate during LTP. Since then most of the information available regarding both the cellular mechanisms and the synaptic locus of LTP maintenance has been gained through experiments with protein kinase inhibitors (Malinow et al., 1988). Experimental advantage can be taken by comparing the effects of inhibitors injected into a postsynaptic cell versus bath-applied, where the inhibitor can interact with both pre- and postsynaptic elements. Davies et al. (1989) applied glutamate agonists iontophoretically to the postsynaptic cell and found no change in receptor responsiveness soon after the induction of LTP, but an increase during later stages of LTP, suggesting that maintenance is initially presynaptic and only later becomes postsynaptic. A number of other studies provide evidence for a presynaptic site of maintenance. For example, results from an experiment with a protein Kinase inhibitor, H-7, by Malinow et al. (1989) suggest that a constitutively active kinase that maintains LTP resides in a location other than the postsynaptic cell, possibly in the presynaptic terminal. Similarly, Hess and Gustafsson (1990) indicate that LTP is associated with a change in shape of the excitatory synaptic potential, perhaps consistent with spike broadening in the presynaptic terminals. Bashir et al. (1991) report an increase in the NMDA component as well as the non-NMDA component of the synaptic potential during tetanic stimulation, indicating that there is an increase in presynaptic neurotransmitter release during LTP. This is contrary to earlier studies by Kauer et al. (1988) and Muller et al. (1988) which found that during LTP only the flow of current through the non-NMDA-receptor channels was enhanced.

7.2.3. Expression of LTP

The most popular and conservative view is that LTP expression involves both preand post-synaptic changes (Malgaroli, 1994). There are three broad possibilities for the types of mechanisms that could cause the synapse to transmit more strongly. These are shown in figure 17. One possibility is that the sensitivity of the postsynaptic cell to neurotransmitter is increased. This could occur for several reasons, for example, as a result of an increased number of neurotransmitter receptors, an increased affinity of neurotransmitter receptors, or an increased current flow through the glutamate ionophores. The responsiveness of ionotropic receptors reflects several parameters including the mean open time and conductance of the channel as well as the affinity of the receptor for neurotransmitter (Ambros-Ingerson and Lynch, 1993). It has been demonstrated that, following the establishment of LTP, the responsiveness of postsynaptic cells to exogenously applied AMPA increases (Davis et al., 1989), and the fast component of EPSP is preferentially enhanced (Kauer et al., 1988; Muller and Lynch, 1988). Another possibility is that a morphological change would occur in the hippocampal synapses (Applegate et al., 1987) that would increase synaptic efficacy. An example of such a change would be an increase in the width of the postsynaptic spine neck which, due to reduced resistance, would allow greater current flow from the postsynaptic spine and the main shaft of the dendrite, resulting in a greater synaptic potential. Thus such structural modifications of the dendritic spine can, in effect, influence postsynaptic responsiveness to transmitter (Wilson, 1988). A third possibility is that LTP expression could result from an increase in presynaptic neurotransmitter release by a variety of mechanisms. It has been shown that the concentration of glutamate in the extracellular fluid in the hippocampus increases after tetanic stimulation and remains elevated for as long as LTP persists (Bliss et al., 1986), but it has not been ascertained wether the increase is due to tetanisation of synaptic terminals. Furthermore, such an increase in glutamate could occur as a result of a decrease in glutamate uptake, rather than an increase in release.

Detailed mechanism underlying neurotransmitter release are not yet understood. An ongoing debate has divided researchers who support the hypothesis that exocytosis of synaptic vesicles accounts for the quantal nature of transmitter release (De Camilli and Jahn, 1990) and those who argue against such a hypothesis and suggest the

existence of specialised molecules, mediatophores, that play a critical role in the release process (Israel & Morel, 1990).



Figure 17. Schematic diagram representing three general mechanisms for LTP expression through a series of aggregate synapses. Presynaptic terminals containing synaptic vesicles, postsynaptic spines containing transmitter receptors; and below, control and potentiated EPSPs are shown (from Madison and Schuman, 1991).

Quantal analysis is, however, the most direct method of differentiating pre- from postsynaptic mechanisms involved in changes in synaptic strength (Siegelbaum and Kandel, 1991). This method takes advantage of the probabilistic nature of the presynaptic release of transmitter from vesicles. Variations of quantal analyses on whole-cell recordings have been conducted which show an increase in the probability of presynaptic transmitter release (Bekkers and Stevens, 1990; Malinow and Tsien, 1990). Attempts have been made during these studies to reduce the number of activated synapses by reducing the strength of applied stimulation, or even more satisfying, to impale a single neurone that projects to the postsynaptic cell either in culture (Bekkers and Stevens, 1990) or in a slice preparation (Malinow, 1991). Although it has been shown by several studies that there is little variability in evoked quantal size (Edwards et al., 1990; Malgaroli and Tsien, 1991; Malinow, 1991), and that the enhancement in synaptic responses is best explained by presynaptic increase in quantal transmitter release (Kullmann and Nicoll, 1992; Larkman et al., 1992; Liao et al., 1992), another quantal study of LTP shows an increase in quantal size, but not quantal content, of the EPSP (Foster and McNaughton, 1991). These investigations do not as yet provide definitive evidence in favour of a presynaptic mechanism for LTP expression. Some caveats regarding quantal analyses of hippocampal excitatory transmission has been raised, namely the transmitter release often deviates from a simple binomial or Poisson distribution (Larkman et al., 1991), or that an increase in the number of postsynaptic receptor clusters should not be interpreted as an increase in the number of vesicles released (Edwards, 1991). These suggest that a cautious approach should be taken in the interpretation of quantal analysis when attempting to assign a pre- or postsynaptic locus of LTP expression (Faber and Korn, 1991; Schweizer et al., 1992; Stevens, 1993).

An alternative approach that has been used is the analysis of spontaneous synaptic events or minis (mini EPSPs or mini IPSPs, Malgaroli and Tsien, 1992; Manabe et al., 1992). Minis are thought to be synaptic responses to single packets of transmitter and they are generally seen as isolated events, facilitating distinctions between quantal size and release probability. The study of spontaneous miniature events have been used to reveal postsynaptic changes following LTP. Manabe et al. (1992) by measuring the amplitude of minis detected increases in quantal size, consistent with a postsynaptic enhancement. Malgaroli and colleagues observed that the frequency of mini excitatory postsynaptic currents was increased strongly after glutamateinduced synaptic enhancement, and that the mini frequency potentiation was not related to an increase in presynaptic Ca²⁺ influx. Thus, Malgaroli (1994) suggests that the expression of LTP involves an increase in the efficiency of some internal steps in the secretory process.

For the maintenance and expression of LTP, more complex reactions linking enzymatic cascades to structural modifications of synaptic contacts are probably necessary to produce long-lasting modifications of synaptic transmission. Several groups of researchers have found that enhancement of transmitter (glutamate) from the presynaptic terminal is involved (Bliss et al., 1990; Malinow, 1991; Schuman and Madison, 1991; Malgaroli and Tsien, 1992), while others refer to a postsynaptic changes in glutamate AMPA receptors (Davies et al., 1989; Manabe et al., 1992; Staubli et al., 1992; Maren et al., 1993). Another possibility is that LTP expression is mediated by a structural modification of the synapse, possibly involving transmembrane proteins such as integrins (Wallace et al., 1991; Xiao et al., 1991).

Substantial isolation of spine compartments from the main dendritic compartment in neurones with large dendritic trees and numerous spine synapses represents a serious problem for the integration of spatially distal events. Several mechanisms are likely to contribute to the spatial propagation of electrical and chemical signals through out the postsynaptic neuron. For instance, both the rapid diffusion of second messengers into the dendritic compartment, as well as active propagation of membrane potential changes along the dendritic membrane, constitute signalling mechanisms that incorporate spatial information.

If the maintenance and expression processes are presynaptic, then as first proposed by Bliss, some message must be sent from the postsynaptic neuron to the presynaptic neuron across the synapse (Kennedy, 1988). This poses a problem for neuroscientists. Ever since the great Spanish anatomist Santiago Ramon Y Cajal first enunciated the principle of dynamic polarisation about 100 years ago, every chemical synapses studied has proven to be unidirectional. Information flows only from the presynaptic to the postsynaptic cell. In LTP, a new principle of nerve cell communication seems to be emerging. The calcium-activated second-messenger pathways, or perhaps calcium acting directly, seem to cause release of a retrograde plasticity factor from the active postsynaptic cell. This retrograde factor then diffuses back to the presynaptic terminals to activate one or more second messengers that enhance transmitter release and thereby maintain LTP.

Unlike presynaptic terminals, which store transmitter in vesicles and release it at specialised release sites, the postsynaptic membranes lack any special release machinery, although dendro-dendritic synapses are well known and transmitter can be released from dendrites in the substantia nigra region of the brain. It therefore

seemed attractive to posit that the retrograde messenger may be a substance that rapidly diffuses out of the postsynaptic cell across the synaptic cleft and into the presynaptic terminal. By 1991 several group of researchers had obtained evidence that nitric oxide (NO) may be such a retrograde messenger (see figure 18). NO has a brief half-life (a few seconds). It is a rapidly diffusible gas produced by Ca²⁺⁻ calmodulin activated NO synthetase (Bredt and Snyder, 1992), even though there is a limited distribution of NO synthatase in the CNS.

Experiments suggest a role for NO in the hippocampal memory processes (Fin et al., 1995). Inhibiting the synthesis of NO in the postsynaptic neuron (Izquierdo and Medina, 1995) or absorbing NO in the extracellular space blocks the induction of LTP, whereas applying NO enhances transmitter release from presynaptic neurones.



Figure 18. Some messengers believed to be involved in long-term potentiation. The flow of calcium in the postsynaptic cell triggers calciumdependent kinases that lead to the induction of LTP. It is shown that the retrograde messenger, possibly nitric oxide, acts in the presynaptic terminal to enhance transmitter release, perhaps by activating guanylyl cyclase or ADP-ribosyl transferase. Some of these messengers are believed to also be involved in long-term desensitisation, or LTD, in cerebellar Purkinje cells. It has been reported that NO produces LTP only if it is paired with activity in the presynaptic neurones, much as is the case in activity-dependent presynaptic facilitation in *Aplysia*. Presynaptic activity, and perhaps calcium influx, appears to be critical for NO to produce potentiation. These reports suggest LTP uses a combination of two independent, associative, synaptic learning mechanisms: a Hebbian NMDA receptor dependent mechanism and a non-Hebbian, activity-dependent, presynaptic facilitating mechanism. Activity dependence of presynaptic facilitation could be a way of ensuring that only specific presynaptic pathways, those that are active are potentiated. Any inactive presynaptic terminals would not be affected.

The second messenger, arachidonic acid, is generated from the degradation of membrane phospholipids by phospholipase A₂, a calcium-dependent enzyme (Williams et al., 1989; Bliss et al., 1990). It has a longer half-life and it can thus modulate presynaptic action potentials, and is likely to have a wider diffusion range. Arachidonic acid can be produced by a variety of neurones in the CNS. Carbon monoxide (CO) has also been advocated as a possible retrograde messenger.

The effects of these retrograde messengers on presynaptic functions probably involve a modification of the enzymatic processes regulating neurotransmitter release. These messengers initiate changes at the synapse by switching on IEGs which then produce new cellular components for deposition at the synapse. It is believed that arachidonic acid acts by activating phosphorylation reactions in the presynaptic terminals that are linked to the regulation of transmitter release. Similarly, NO has been shown to stimulate the synthesis of cyclic GMP and to increase neurotransmitter release.

Figure 19 clearly summarises various biochemical processes associated with LTP.

If the retrograde facilitating substance in the hippocampus were able to diffuse widely, the facilitation would also occur at synapses onto other postsynaptic cells, as found in *Aplysia* (Hawkins and Kandel, 1990). Such a result has been observed in monolayer cultures of hippocampus by Bonhoeffer et al. (1989). They found that induction of LTP in any given cell in CA1 (by a Hebbian mechanism) leads to the expression of LTP in neighbouring postsynaptic cells through a non-Hebbian step in which the postsynaptic cell does not fire. A similar mechanism has also been found by Kossel et al. (1990).

Alternative to presynaptic enzymatic processes, the retrograde message could involve changes in the ionic constituent of the fluid in the synaptic cleft (e.g. an increase in Ca²⁺ levels), or it could take a mechanical form, with the postsynaptic cell interacting with the presynaptic cell through a pull chain made up of extracellular connective molecules.

Laduron (1987a, 1987b) postulates that presynaptic terminals are receptive to neuromodulators released either as a retrograde messenger from the postsynaptic membrane, or from axo-axonic connections. More transmitter is released with repetition. To account for long term changes he proposes that the messenger neurotransmitters are packaged into vesicles along with their receptors (pinched off from the axon terminal) and transported back to the cell body by fast axonal (retrograde) transport. There, the occupied receptors influence the nucleus to



Figure 19. Simple representation of chains of biochemical events that induce LTP, and maintain it through an increase in the efficacy or strength of synapses.

transcribe different proteins, specifically ion channels. These would then be sent, by anterograde transport to the terminals, where the efficiency of the synapse would be enhanced by the structural modification, which thus becomes, in effect, the memory trace. This is shown in figure 20.

However, the half-time of the retrograde messenger substances, and the fact that they are not parcelled up into vesicles, suggests that they do not provide the means of satisfying Laduron's hypothesis.

7.3. Hippocampal LTP relationships to learning and memory

LTP is rapidly induced. It reaches steady-state in less than 10 minutes. LTP has been measured in hippocampal slices for periods in excess of 12 hours after it has been triggered. Once established, LTP can last for hours to several weeks in hippocampus *in vivo* (Staubli and Lynch, 1987), enduring enough to make it a likely candidate for the physical changes that underpin the formation of recent memories. LTP can be distinguished from less enduring forms of synaptic plasticity such as short-term potentiation (STP) and post-tetanic potentiation (PTP), which appear to be mediated by different cellular mechanisms (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993).



Figure 20. Long-term potentiation through regulation of gene function in a mechanism suggested by the work of Laduron (1987a, 1987b). (a) Neurotransmitters attached to their receptors are transported in vesicles to the cell body. (b) The occupied receptors then activate genes for protein synthesis. (c) Specifically, ion channels could be produced which, when inserted into the cell membrane, would modify the electrical activity of the neuron.

Perhaps the strongest evidence for a role of LTP in learning and memory comes from studies using pharmacological antagonists of the NMDA receptor. NMDA receptor antagonists impair learning when applied either systemically (Robinson et al., 1989; Shapiro and Caramanos, 1990), intracranially (Morris et al., 1986; Staubli et al., 1989; Kim et al., 1991), or locally to specific brain structure (Jerusalinsky et al., 1992; Young et al., 1994), but the performance of learned responses is not affected by NMDA receptor antagonists (Kim et al., 1991).

Richard Morris and his colleagues at the University of Edinburgh Medical School (Morris et al., 1986) found that the induction of LTP by tetanic stimulation *in vivo* was blocked when NMDA receptors in the hippocampus were blocked by a selective antagonist AP5, and the degree of blocking was dose-dependent. Morris then turned to the behavioural tests. He chose the well-known water-maze task, wherein a rat put into a vat of milky water must learn where the submerged platform is so that it could leave the vat. Learning the platform whereabouts and spatial learning in general is believed to require an intact hippocampus. Morris discovered that learning the water-maze task was indeed retarded by the application of AP5, and

moreover, the degree of retardation was dose-dependent. Could this disruption have been due to some general impairment of the brain? This is unlikely, argues Morris, because the rats were able to perform another task, i.e. choosing between two raised platforms in the tank on the basis of visual cues with ease. This suggests that their motivation, their senses and so on were all intact. These experiments suggest that NMDA receptor mechanisms in the hippocampus, and Hebbian type LTP, are involved in spatial learning. Specifically, it has lately been shown that LTP in the area CA1, but not in cortical input to the dentate gyrus, seems to be required for spatial learning (Nosten-Bertrand et al., 1996)

Similarly, antagonists of the glutamate AMPA (Jerusalinsky et al., 1992) and metabotropic (Riedel et al., 1994) receptors have also been shown to impair learning. In addition, pharmacological blockade of AMPA receptors abolishes the expression of learned responses in a number of paradigms (Bianchin et al., 1993; Kim et al., 1993; Izquierdo and Medina, 1995), and drugs that enhance AMPA receptor function improve learning and memory (Granger et al., 1993; Staubli et al., 1994). Further evidence for a postsynaptic AMPA receptor role in learning and memory comes from studies indicating that both LTP and classical conditioning are accompanied by similar changes in the binding properties of AMPA receptors in the hippocampus (Tocco et al., 1992; Cammarota et al., 1995).

There are other reasons why LTP has become so central to theories about learning. Firstly, it acts in an impeccably "Hebbian" manner, only taking place at pre- and post-synaptic synapses connecting neurones that are both active at the same time. This is pairing between presynaptic activity and postsynaptic depolarisation (Brown et al., 1990). Secondly, it behaves like a cellular mimic of classical (Pavlovian) conditioning (Barrionuevo and Brown, 1983; Sastry et al., 1986). The associative property of LTP is perhaps one of its most important because it can be used to explain various forms of learning. During classical conditioning an initially neutral conditioned stimulus (CS; i.e., the weak pathway) comes to elicit a conditioned response (CR) similar to the unconditioned response (UR) elicited by an initially non-neutral unconditioned stimulus (US; i.e. the strong pathway). In this example, depolarisation generated by the stimulation of the strong US pathway promotes NMDA receptor activation and LTP in the weaker CS pathway, which consequently becomes a potentiated CR pathway (Kelso et al., 1986). As a result, LTP shows specificity: it is restricted in its action to the pathway that is stimulated. It also shows cooperativity (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993). Diamond and Rose (1994), however, believe that there are flaws in the extrapolation that associative LTP is a substrate for classical conditioning from both physiological and cognitive perspectives, and propose an alternative hypothesis in which the relevance of the associative LTP findings to hippocampal function is considered in a broader behavioural context, which encompasses classical conditioning. There are experimental results to suggest that behavioural events due to conditioned and unconditioned stimuli can exert bidirectional control of synaptic strength of entorhinal cortex inputs to the dentate gyrus, and that potentiation or depression of synaptic modification is at least partially determined by the temporal relationship between these events (Doyere et al., 1995).

Prior to stabilisation, LTP formation can be disrupted by a variety of manipulations such as hypoxia (Arai et al., 1990), electroconvulsive shock or seizure activity (Massicotte et al., 1991), trains of low frequency stimuli (Fujii et al, 1991), and cooling shocks (Muller, 1994). The vulnerability of LTP to disruption suggest a possible basis for the consolidation period frequently observed in behavioural studies of learning and memory (Kim and Fanselow, 1992). Also, behavioural manipulations such as stress that impair LTP induction (Diamond et al., 1990) produce impairments in hippocampus-dependent spatial learning (Shors and Dryver, 1992). Moreover, studies using electrical stimulation to saturate LTP before training show that LTP saturation can have an impact on some forms of learning (Berger, 1984).

There is evidence that age-dependent impairment of spatial learning is associated with reduced hippocampal CA1 Ca²⁺-induced long-term potentiation (Barnes, 1979; Diana et al., 1995), and changes in glutamate receptor binding (Pelleymounter et al., 1990; Clark et al., 1992).

Further support for a LTP role in memory is indicated by the high correspondence between optimal LTP induction conditions and endogenous patterns of neural activity that accompany learning (Larson et al., 1986) . In the CA1 region of the rat hippocampus, two quite different population effects have been observed (Buzsaki, 1989). One characteristic pattern, sharp waves, occur irregularly between 0.02 and 3 Hz. These waveforms are present during rest and consolidation as well as during deep sleep. Their amplitude is much higher than that of the other pattern known as theta waves (Buzsaki, 1986). Theta rhythm is regular between 4-12 Hz, and is low amplitude. Specifically, LTP is induced optimally by afferent stimulation that is patterned at theta frequency (Larson and Lynch, 1986). This is a frequency band that dominates the hippocampal EEG during information-gathering behaviours, such as exploration and experiencing in rats (Vanderwolf, 1969), and is also generated during the REM stage of sleep. The relationship between theta rhythm and learning and memory has been known for decades (Klemm, 1976; Landfield, 1976).

GABA_B receptors can regulate LTP induction by modulating the level of inhibition. GABA_B receptor-mediated fading of inhibition enhances both LTP induction and the spread of neural activity (Mott and Lewis, 1994). Theta frequency stimulation is optimal for LTP induction because it facilitates GABAB autoreceptor-mediated depression of inhibitory interneurones, thereby opening a time window for the postsynaptic target to sufficiently depolarise and activate NMDA receptors (Mott and Lewis, 1991). Thus, the hippocampal network seems to be particularly finetuned to exhibit maximal synaptic plasticity when global activity emerges in the theta range, a phenomenon that occurs during learning. There are reports of LTP-like changes in hippocampal electrophysiology during associative learning (Roman et al., 1987; Skelton et al., 1987) and exploration (Sharp et al., 1989; Green et al., 1990). However, a recent report by Moser et al. (1993) indicates that the changes in brain temperature that accompany exploration may be responsible for the increases in hippocampal responses. The relevance to memory of such exploration-related increases in hippocampal responses may therefore be questionable (Eichenbaum and Otto, 1993).

Inasmuch as sharp waves are strong relative to theta waves, involve synchrony of activations across a number of cells, and occur during a "quiet" phase following exploratory behaviour, these sharp waves are not implausible candidates for the natural counterpart of the experimental conditions leading to LTP (Buzsaki 1989; Buzsaki and Gage, 1991).

7.3.1. A two stage learning hypothesis

Buzsaki proposes a learning hypothesis, where in stage one, during theta rhythm, information is transferred from the entorhinal to CA3 area by fast-firing granule cells which converge on the CA3 pyramidals so as to produce weak and transient heterosynaptic potentiation. During this phase, the pyramidal cells also receive rhythmic inhibition originating from the septum. The pattern of potentiation in CA3 cells is a function of the pattern of input from cortical structures, and creates a temporary store of information. Because CA3 pyramidal output is silenced during this phase, CA1 cells are not activated by the CA3 pyramidal cells. Once exploratory behaviour has ceased, the CA3 cells are released from septal inhibition and can then discharge in bursts, the most recently and hence most strongly excited ones first. The extensive pattern of recurrent collaterals connecting a cell to itself, and to other pyramidals in the region, means that the network self-organises into complex patterns of activity. Excitation is spread to less active (earlier stimulated) cells by recurrent collaterals. These cells then also discharge. The bursts from the CA3 pyramidals in effect "teach" the CA1 cells, the most recent "events" being the first and most strongly signalled. The CA1 cells in consequence undergo long-term modification. A more permanent trace may also be left on some CA3 cells, as well as some cells in entorhinal cortex by way of feedback from CA1.

7.4. Relationship between development and structural modifications involved in learning and memory

Experiments in both the sea hare Aplysia and mammals indicate that explicit and implicit memory storage proceed in stages. Storage of initial information, a type of short term memory, lasts minutes to hours and involves changes in the strength of existing synaptic connections (by means of second-messenger-mediated modifications). The long term changes that persist for weeks and months are stored at the same site but, as detailed in the section on plasticity, may involve activation of genes, the expression of new proteins, and growth of new connections, such as an increase in the number of presynaptic terminals. Researchers have found that in Aplysia artificial electrical impulses which produce a form of long-term memory also cause synapse-like structures to grow on the nerve fibres. If long-term memory leads to anatomical changes, does that imply our brains are constantly changing anatomically as we learn and as we forget? There is now reason to believe that the fine-tuning of connections during late stages of development may require an activity-dependent associative synaptic mechanism, perhaps similar to LTP. If that is also true on the molecular level, if learning shares common molecular mechanisms with aspects of development and growth, the study of learning may help connect cognitive psychology to the molecular biology of the organisms in a more general way.

7.5. Pharmacological modulation of learning and memory

An understanding of the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying various forms of synaptic plasticity, such as LTP, provides a framework to evaluate the effects of specific drugs on learning and memory. For example, in view of the role of cholinergic neurones in the generation of the theta rhythm (Bland, 1986), the effects of drugs interacting with cholinergic neurotransmitter systems can now be interpreted in relation to hippocampal theta rhythm and LTP induction (Hasselmo

and Barkai, 1995). Similarly, the effects on learning and memory of drugs acting on GABA receptors can be accounted for on the basis of their effects on LTP induction mechanisms (Baudry and Massicotte, 1992). Indeed, blockade of GABA_B-, as with GABA_A, receptor-mediated IPSPs can facilitate the induction of LTP, because elimination of their hyperpolarising influence enhances the expression of the NMDA receptor-mediated conductance (Davies et al., 1991). In particular, memory and LTP are reported to be blocked early on by GABA_A-receptor agonists, and enhanced by GABA_A-receptor antagonists (Izquierdo and Medina, 1995). Some phosphonous acid analogues of GABA are capable of crossing the blood-brain barrier after oral administration. Such $GABA_B$ -receptor antagonists, through facilitating the induction of long-term potentiation in vivo and in vitro, can produce cognitive enhancing effects (Froestl et al., 1995). Indeed, it has recently been reported that dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, which as a neurosteroid acts on GABA receptors, produced a significant increase in LTP in relation to baseline values (Yoo et al., 1996). It has also been suggested that sex steroid hormones influence neural plasticity, neuronal activity and possibly learning and memory (Priest and Pfaff, 1995). Moreover, it has been found that the induction of LTP *in vivo* is suppressed by low doses of ethanol, which is believed to act on GABAA-receptors. This effect may underlie impairment of learning and memory by ethanol (Givens and McMahon, 1995).

Opioids in the hippocampus could play an important role in learning and memory by mediating inhibitory responses through kappa and mu receptors. In fact, opioids seem to inhibit GABA release as, in some animals such as sheep and dog, opioids almost cause seizure activity. Mossy fibres constitute the principal source of dynorphin and enkephalin in the hippocampus (Salin et al., 1995).

Attempts have been made to develop new pharmacological tools that would be specific and selective for bio-chemical systems involved in learning. In this regard, several attempts have been made to develop cognitive enhancers based on the properties of synaptic plasticity mechanisms. A glycine analogue, D-cycloserine (an allosteric modulator of the NMDA receptor), has been reported to reverse the amnestic effects of scopolamine (a cholinergic antagonist) in rats (Fishkin et al., 1993), and to facilitate learning in rabbits (Thompson et al., 1992). Another approach to produce cognitive enhancers would be to develop compounds that modulate the properties of AMPA receptors. For example, phosphatidylserine, a phospholipid which increases the affinity of AMPA receptors for agonists(Baudry et al., 1991), has been reported to improve cognitive impairments associated with aging (Zanotti et al., 1984; Corwin et al., 1985). This suggests that agents capable of allosteric modifications of AMPA receptors could be used as cognitive enhancers (Granger et al., 1993; Staubli et al., 1994). Looking beyond postsynaptic receptors, a better understanding of the enzymatic cascades involved in LTP might provide more selective ways of increasing synaptic efficacy.

49

8. Decreasing Synaptic Strength

Assuming that there is a mechanism, such as LTP, for strengthening connections between synapses, then to avoid saturation (meaning that all synapses do not end up at their maximum strength), some counterpart mechanisms probably exist to *decrease* synaptic strengths. In the absence of repetition, some connections may gradually decay over time, with the result that information is lost. Some of such processes might correlate with gradual forgetting on the psychological level. Weakening of the connections between synapses should, however, not be automatically identified with the psychological phenomenon of forgetting. Reduction in synaptic strength under specific presynaptic-postsynaptic conditions could well be an indispensable component of learning new information or, alternatively, it could be a part of sloughing off the irrelevant.

As the flip side of LTP, *long-term depression* (LTD), as a complementary inhibiting mechanism has been sought at the conventional LTP sites. LTD also provides a means for regulating the strength of synaptic connections in the mammalian brain. Two broad classes have been postulated, and there is some evidence for both. The first class is *heterosynaptic* LTD, which means that the responsivity of the whole cell is downregulated, equivalent in its consequence to changing the gain of the cell. The second class is *homosynaptic* LTD, wherein responsivity is damped at the very synapse manipulated, leaving other (unmanipulated) synapses on the same cell undamped. In both cases, a postsynaptic structure hitherto potentiated loses that potentiation in exchange for a depressed response to the presynaptic stimulus. These forms of LTD, as well as various forms of LTP, are shown in figure 21.

Heterosynaptic LTD is conjectured to have a role in normalisation, that is, in adjusting cells so that they are not saturated by LTP modifications. Homosynaptic LTD may be more selective and, thus, may be speculated to have a role in culling out low-grade or "don't-care" information.

Stanton and Sejnowski (1989) investigated whether there was an associative form of LTD in the hippocampus. They found that when a weak, test stimulus to one set of schaffer collateral inputs was applied out of phase with a strong, conditioning stimulus to an independent set of inputs, LTD was produced in the test stimulus pathway. The depression required the out-of-phase pairing of test and conditioning stimuli. As the out-of-phase test impulse arrived at a time when the postsynaptic cell was hyperpolarised due to an inhibitory GABAergic postsynaptic potential, Stanton and Sejnowski produced what appears to be homosynaptic LTD in a CA1 pyramidal cell from a slice preparation. First, LTP was produced in the standard way by high-frequency stimulation of the Schaffer pathway. In the next phase, current injected into the postsynaptic cell was manipulated so that it negatively correlated with presynaptic activation . Accordingly, when the presynaptic cell was active, the postsynaptic cell was artificially hyperpolarised and hence not allowed to respond. This depression is shown in figure 16.

8.1. Long-term depression in the cerebellum

Long-term depression (LTD) in cerebellar cortex is a widely studied form of synaptic plasticity in the mammalian brain. Cerebellar LTD has long been proposed as a



mechanism for various forms of motor learning mediated by the cerebellum. Its induction mechanisms and properties are briefly discussed below.

Figure 21. Use-dependent synaptic changes. Each neuron is shown to receive two sets of synaptic inputs. The waveforms above each input illustrate schematically the excitatory postsynaptic potential produced by a single stimulation of that input before (solid curve) and after (broken curve) tetanic stimulation of one or both inputs. Filled elements indicate activity during the tetanic stimulation (from Brown et al., 1990).

8.1.1. Mechanisms of cerebellar LTD induction

LTD in the cerebellar cortex can be induced either by pairing low-frequency activity (1-4 Hz for several minutes) in parallel fibres (PFs) of the granule cells and climbing fibres (CFs) arising from the inferior olive, two excitatory afferent pathways that converge on cerebellar cortical Purkinje cells (Ito, 1989), or by pairing PF activity with direct Purkinje cell hyperpolarisation (Crepel and Jaillard, 1991). Whereas a single Purkinje cell receives inputs from up to 80000 parallel fibres, it is innervated by only one climbing fibre. The Purkinje cells provide the only output of the cerebellar cortex. The timing of PF and CF stimulation is critical as optimal LTD occurs when PF and CF activation are 250 ms apart (Maren and Baudry, 1995). Following several pairing of PF and CF stimulation, synaptic responses in the PF pathway exhibit a marked and enduring depression. As in the hippocampus, fast excitatory synaptic transmission at both PF and CF synapses is mediated primarily by postsynaptic AMPA receptors (Perkel et al., 1990). However unlike LTP induction, the critical events in LTD induction involve the coupling of a potent Ca²⁺

signal generated by CF discharge with activation of mGluRs at parallel fibre-Purkinje cell synapses (Maren and Baudry, 1995). Cerebellar LTD does not involve NMDA receptors, nor does it seem to require GABA-mediated inhibitory inputs, since it is enhanced, not suppressed, by picrotoxin (Sakurai, 1987). An increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ in postsynaptic Purkinje cells is required for cerebellar LTD (Sakurai, 1988). This is because Ca²⁺ is an intracellular mediator of the climbing fibre LTD induction, and intracellular injection of the Ca²⁺ chelator EGTA into a Purkinje cell blocks the induction of LTD (Sakurai, 1990). This elevation in intracellular Ca²⁺ is probably mediated by both voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels activated by CF depolarisation, and the liberation of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores by a metabotropic receptor-mediated second messenger cascade (Okamoto and Sekiguchi, 1991). It may be that simultaneous activation of glutamate AMPA and metabotropic receptors are required for climbing fibre-induced long-term depression. The modification that expresses LTD at PF synapses appears to be a sustained desensitisation of ionotropic AMPA receptor responses (Linden et al., 1991).

Therefore, the final common pathway for the induction and expression of both hippocampal LTP and cerebellar LTD is an elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺, an activation of enzymatic cascades, and a modification of postsynaptic AMPA and metabotropic sub-types of glutamate receptors. Unlike LTP, however, the rise in Ca²⁺ in Purkinje cell dendrites is thought not to be through the NMDA-type channels.

How does the rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ leads to LTD? Recent evidence implicates the production of cGMP through the NO cascade (Ito and Karachot, 1990; Shibuki and Okasa, 1991). According to this hypothesis, the rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ activates the Ca²⁺-calmodulin-dependent enzyme, NO synthetase (Bredt and Snyder, 1990). NO then activates a soluble form of guanylate cyclase leading to production of cGMP. The links between these messengers are shown in figure 18. Shibuki and Okasa (1991) detected the release of NO in response to white matter stimulation in cerebellar slices during induction of LTD, and found that several inhibitors of NO production also blocked induction of LTD. Ito and Karachot (1990) found that LTD could also be inhibited by inhibiting certain GTP-binding proteins (Gi and Go), and by inhibitor of the cGMP-dependent protein kinase.

A similar cascade of events might also be responsible for LTD induction in other brain structures. Like cerebellar LTD, neocortical LTD induction does not require NMDA receptor activation (Artola et al., 1990; Hirsch and Crepel, 1991). However, LTD induction in the hippocampus, like LTP induction, does require NMDA receptor activation (Dudek and Bear, 1992; Mulkey and Malenka, 1992).

8.1.2. Properties of cerebellar LTD

Cerebellar LTD shares many memory-like properties that hippocampal LTP exhibits. LTD is long-lasting. It has been observed to last for hours in *in vivo* preparations (Ito, 1989). LTD is specific to stimulated synapses i.e., PFs that are not paired with CF stimulation do not show LTD. LTD induction obeys Hebbian rules as strong postsynaptic depolarisation generated by CFs is combined with presynaptic neurotransmitter release at PF-Purkinje cell synapses. The Hebbian nature of cerebellar LTD also provides for associativity.

One potential problem for a role for cerebellar LTD in learning is the lack of correspondence between optimal LTD induction parameters and optimal learning parameters in cerebellum-dependent tasks. Classical eye-blink conditioning in rabbits may depend on cerebellar LTD (Thompson, 1990). In this paradigm, an auditory CS precedes a corneal air puff US. After several pairing, the CS comes to elicit an eyeblink CR. Cerebellar cortical damage severely impairs both the acquisition and retention of this learned response as CS and US information are conveyed to cerebellar cortex by PFs and CFs, respectively. A 250 ms CS-US interval produces robust LTD in the cerebellum (Maren and Baudry, 1995). It has been reported that NO synthesis inhibitors, which impair cerebellar LTD induction, impair eyeblink conditioning in rabbits (Chapman et al., 1992).

Both LTP and LTD have been reported in several other brain structures including amygdala (Chapman et al., 1990; Clugnet and LeDoux, 1990), and Neocortex (Artola and Singer, 1993; Hirsch and Crepel, 1990).

9. Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity in Artificial Neuronal Networks

In order to model hippocampal and cerebellar functions, artificial neuronal networks have been designed with synaptic plasticity rules similar to those found in hippocampal LTP and cerebellar LTD. Although these models are still in their infancy, they have already proved to be powerful tools for understanding the computational and "cognitive" properties of certain types of network designs and rules.

Networks with plasticity rules derived from hippocampal LTP have been shown to produce an optimal classification of input signals, and to have a very large storage capacity (Ambros-Ingerson et al., 1990; Granger and Lynch, 1991; Granger et al., 1994). Similarly, networks designed according to cerebellar circuitry and plasticity exhibit properties of complex motor learning and adaptation (Chapeau-Blondeau and Chauvet, 1991).

The next generation of artificial neuronal networks will have to incorporate more biological features in order to reproduce more sophisticated performance of the neural networks they intend to simulate. In particular, more detailed information concerning the mechanisms of receptor activation, receptor regulation and second messenger signalling will have to be incorporated to understand the consequences of cellular responses that are measured in seconds and minutes instead of milliseconds. There is no doubt this kind of consistent updating of neuronal responses is involved in the continuous nature of information processing and storage.

Edmund Rolls (1989) discerned a resemblance between hippocampal anatomy and the associative nets of Hopfield and Kohonen. He suggests that the CA3 region is a recurrent net, where the mossy fibres provide a coarsely specified input, whereas the more dense and direct perforant input determines the finer discriminations, and the collaterals allow both for upgrading noisy patterns and completing partial patterns (see figure 22). According to Rolls proposal, the CA3 region is a structure for recognition memory. In rat each CA3 neurone receives inputs from 12000 other CA3 neurones, exactly the kind of pattern one would expect, says Rolls, if the area worked as an autoassociation memory. The CA1 region, as recipient of CA3 signals, Rolls sees as a matrix for competitive learning, where the function is to perform further classification on what it gets from a set of CA3 pyramidal cells, yielding a more general, or as he says "economical" classification of world events. Since Rolls does not give a specific example of what that would mean, or of the contrast between CA1 and CA3 representations, it is not clear what sort of representation further classification by the CA1s produces, or why, given its Rollsian function, CA1 learning should be competitive. Rolls' hypothesis remains at a very abstract level of explanation. What is missing from the account is the differential physiology of hippocampal cells and what, given the anatomy, could be its significance in learning new things.

Roger Traub and his colleagues have explored models of CA3 region as it behaves in slices (Traub et al, 1989; Traub and Dingledine, 1990). The Traub models of slice data have distinctive cell populations corresponding to excitatory pyramidal cells (9000), and two kinds of inhibitory cells (450 of each). The models incorporated a great many biophysical and physiological properties of cells, such as fast and slow GABA

receptors, channel types, and time constants, as well as the details of synaptic distribution, and patterns of connectivity between the pyramidal cells, mossy fibres and inhibitory cells. One question asked of the model by Traub and Dingledine (1990) was related to the generation of *in vitro* synchronised bursts, presumably corresponding to the sharp waves seen *in vivo*. They found that in the model synchronous bursts were preceded by a barrage of EPSPs, caused by granule cell action potentials. In the model, while spontaneous EPSPs in CA3 pyramidal cells were necessary to the initiation of the bursting phase, recurrent collaterals were necessary for synchronisation of the bursts.



Figure 22. (A) Schematic representation of the connections of the hippocampus and its projections to and from the cerebral cortex. (B) Matrix for competitive learning in which the input stimuli are presented along the rows of the input axons (a_r), which make modifiable synapses (S_{rc}) with the dendrites of the output neurones forming the columns (d_c) of the matrix. A net with this architecture is rather like the neural architecture of feedforward Schaffer collaterals from CA3 to CA1 pyramidal cells (from Rolls, 1989).

10. Conclusions

From the analysis on mechanisms and properties of long-term synaptic plasticity, an explanation for memory storage and recall may emerge that once all the synapses have put Hebbian rule into effect, the memory has been stored. Neurones that were once active together are now linked by stronger synapses; during recall they will tend to rouse one another and help to recreate the original pattern.

Multidisciplinary studies bridging behaviour, systems neurophysiology, receptor biochemistry, and molecular genetics will be the wave of the future to enhance the connection between LTP and memory. For example, a multidisciplinary approach to bridge hippocampal glutamate receptor binding, LTP, and learning is demonstrated by the finding that acute water deprivation increases hippocampal AMPA receptor binding, elevates hippocampal LTP expression and theta rhythm (Maren et al., 1994b), and markedly facilitates the acquisition of Pavlovian fear conditioning in rats (Maren et al., 1994a; Maren et al., 1994b)

There is increasing research in the area of gene knockout technology for the analysis of learning and memory, and neural development (e.g. Tonegawa et al., 1995). In view of recent reports of specific IEG induction following LTP induction (Schreiber et al., 1991) and learning (Campeau et al., 1991; Pezzone et al., 1992), IEG knockouts may be a profitable avenue for future studies of the relationship of synaptic plasticity to learning and memory.

(a) Elucidation of the molecular and cellular mechanisms of LTP has now provided an explanation for the relationship between global events occurring during information acquisition and processing, and local storage of information

The two stage hypothesis by Buzsaki which was outlined earlier is well rooted in data from cellular and area levels, and it renders coherent some otherwise puzzling data. Importantly, it opens up a range of testable sub-hypotheses and predictions. One direct prediction, for example, is that the retention of a task will be significantly better if followed by a sleep episode than if followed by continuing intense activity, since sharp waves are especially manifest during deep sleep.

- (b) Understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms of LTP has provided not only new interpretation for results of pharmacological studies concerning memory, but also new tools such as receptor binding techniques to probe neural systems for LTP-related changes and new pharmacological compounds to analyse the role for LTP in information processing and storage. It is now possible to make some testable predictions concerning the potential effects of drugs on memory processes.
- (c) Computer simulations of biologically relevant neural networks have begun to incorporate biologically relevant parameters based on LTP induction rules (e.g. Willshaw and Buckingham, 1990; Ekeberg et al., 1991; Granger et al., 1994). These models have the potential to become powerful tools to link neurobiology and cognitive sciences. Such neural networks will have many applications. For example, in theory, a fully fledged cellular network of the

type proposed by Edmund Rolls in 1989, an autoassociation memory, could hold many memories simultaneously, with each synapse participating in several memories and each memory being "encoded" by several synapses. Its power of recall would be spectacular. If prompted with only a small fragment of a memory, its synapses would ensure that it regenerates that memory in its entirety.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Mr Greg Marsh, former manager of the Human Systems Integration Group, for his support of this research review work. I am also grateful to Dr David Kerr from the Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, the University of Adelaide, for refereeing this paper.

.

References

- Abelovich, A., Chen, C., Goda, Y., Silva, A.J., Stevens, C.F. and Tonegawa, S. (1993a) Modified hippocampal long-term potentiation in PKC-mutant mice, Cell, 75: 1253-1262.
- Abelovich, A., Paylor, R., Chen, C., Kim, J.J., Wehner, J.M. and Tonegawa, S. (1993b) PKC mutant mice exhibit mild learning deficits in spatial and contextual learning, Cell, 75: 1263-1271.
- Abraham, W.C. and Mason, S.E. (1988) Effects of the NMDA receptor/channel antagonists CPP and MK801 on hippocampal field potentials and long-term potentiation in anesthetized rats, Brain Research, 462: 40-46.
- Alonso, A., de Curtis, M. and Llinas, R.R. (1990) Postsynaptic Hebbian and non-Hebbian long-term potentiation of synaptic efficacy in the entorhinal cortex in slices and in the isolated adult guinea pig brain, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 87: 9280-9284.
- Ambros-Ingerson, J., Granger, R. and Lynch, G. (1990) Simulation of paleocortex performs hierarchical clustering, Science, 247: 1344-1348.
- Ambros-Ingerson, J. and Lynch, G. (1993) Channel gating kinetics and synaptic efficacy: A hypothesis for expression of long-term potentiation, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 90: 7903-7907.
- Applegate, M.D. Kerr, D.S., Landfield, P. (1987) Redistribution of synaptic vesicles during long-term potentiation, Brain Research, 401:401-406.
- Arai, A., Larson, J., and Lynch, G. (1990) Anoxia reveals a vulnerable period in the development of long-term potentiation, Brain Research, 511: 353-357.
- Artola, A., Broecher, S. and Singer, W. (1990) Different voltage-dependent thresholds for inducing long-term depression and long-term potentiation in slices of rat visual cortex, Nature (London), 347: 69-72.
- Artola A. and Singer W. (1993) Long-term depression of excitatory synaptic transmission and its relationship to long-term potentiation, Trends in Neurosciences, 16: 480-487.
- Ascher, P. and Nowak, L. (1988a) Quisqualate and kainate-activated channels in mouse central neurones in culture, Journal of Physiology, 399: 227-245.
- Barnes, C.A. (1979) Memory deficits associated with senescence: A neurophysiological and behavioral study in the rat, Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 93: 74-104.
- Barrionuevo, G. and Brown, T.H. (1983) Associative long-term potentiation in hippocampal slices, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 80: 7347-7351.

- Bartsch, D., Ghirardi, M., Skehel, P.A., Karl, K.A., Herder, S.P., Chen, M., Bailey, C.H. and Kandel, E.R. (1995) Aplysia CREB2 represses long-term facilitation: relief of repression converts transient facilitation into long-term functional and structural change, Cell, 83: 979-992.
- Bashir, Z.I., Alford, S., Davies, S.N., Randall, A.D. and Collingridge, G.L. (1991) Long-term potentiation of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in the hippocampus, Nature, 349: 156-158.
- Bashir, Z.I., Bortolotto, Z.A., Davies, C.H., Berretta, N., Irving, A.J., Seal, A.J., Henley, J.M., Jane, D.E., Watkins, J.C. and Collingridge, G.L. (1993)
 Induction of LTP in the hippocampus needs synaptic activation of glutamate metabotropic receptors, Nature (London), 363: 347-350.
- Baudry, M. and Davis, J.L. (Eds.) (1991) Long-term potentiation: A debate of current issues, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Baudry, M., Massicotte, G. and Hauge, S. (1991) Phosphatidylserine increases the affinity of the AMPA/quisqualate receptor in rat brain membranes, Behavioral and Neural Biology, 55: 137-140.
- Baudry, M. and Massicotte, G. (1992) Physiological and pharmacological relationships between long-term potentiation and mammalian memory, Concepts in Neuroscience, 3: 79-98.
- Bekkers, J.M. and Stevens, C.F. (1990) Presynaptic mechanism for long-term potentiation in the hippocampus, Nature, 346: 724-729.
- Berger, T.W. (1984) Long-term potentiation of hippocampal synaptic transmission affects rate of behavioral learning, Science, 224: 627-630.
- Bianchin, M., Walz, R., Ruschel, A.C., Zanatta, M.S., da Silva, R.C., Bueno e Silva, M., Paczko, N., Medina, J.H. and Izquierdo, I. (1993) Memory expression is blocked by the infusion of CNQX into the hippocampus and /or amygdala up to 20 days after training, Behavioral and Neural Biology, 59: 83-86.
- Blake, J.F., Yates, R.G., Brown, M.W. and Collingridge G.L. (1988) 6-cyano-7nitroquinoxaline-2,3-dione is an excitatory amino acid antagonist in area CA1 of rat hippocampus, British Journal of Pharmacology, 97: 71-76.
- Bland, B.H. (1986) The physiology and pharmacology of hippocampal formation theta rhythm, Progress in Neurobiology, 26: 1-54.
- Bliss, T.V.P. and Gardner-Medwin, A.R. (1973) Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the unanaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path, Journal of Physiology (London), 232: 357-374.

- Bliss, T.V.P. and Lømo, W.T. (1973) Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path, Journal of Physiology (London), 232: 331-356.
- Bliss, T.V.P., Douglas, R.M., Errington, M.L. and Lynch, M.A. (1986) Correlation between long-term potentiation and release of endogenous amino acids from dentate gyrus of anaesthetized rats, Journal of Physiology (London), 377: 391-408.
- Bliss, T.V.P., Clements, M.P., Errington, M.L., Lynch, M.A. and Williams, J. (1990) Presynaptic changes associated with long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus, Seminars in Neuroscience., 2: 345-354.
- Bliss, T.V.P. and Collingridge, G.L. (1993) A synaptic model of memory: Long-term potentiation in the hippocampus, Nature (London), 361: 31-39.
- Bonhoeffer, T., Staiger, V. and Aertsen, A. (1989) Synaptic plasticity in rat hippocampus slice cultures: Local 'Hebbian' conjunction of pre- and postsynaptic stimulation leads to distributed synaptic enhancement, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 86: 8113-8117.
- Bortolotto, Z.A., Bashir, Z.I., Davies, C.H., and Collingridge, G.L. (1994) A molecular switch activated by metabotropic glutamate receptors regulates induction of long-term potentiation, Nature, 368: 740-743.
- Bowery, N.G., Doble, A., Hill, D.R., Hudson, A.L., Shaw, J.S., et al. (1981) Bicuculline-insensitive GABA receptors on peripheral autonomic nerve terminals, European journal of Pharmacology, 71: 53-70.
- Bowery, N.G. (1993) GABA_B receptor pharmacology, Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology, 33: 109-147.
- Bredt, D.S. and Snyder, S.H. (1990) Isolation of nitric oxide synthatase, a calmodulinrequiring enzyme, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 87: 682-685.
- Bredt, D.S. and Snyder, S.H. (1992) Nitric oxide, a novel neuronal messenger, Neuron, 8: 3-11.
- Brown, T.H., Ganong, A.H., Kairiss, E.W. and Keenan, C.L. (1990) Hebbian synapses: Biophysical mechanisms and algorithms, Annual Review of Neuroscience, 13: 475-511.
- Burchuladze, R., Potter, J. and Rose, S.P. (1990) Memory formation in the chick depends on membrane-bound protein kinase C, Brain Res., 535: 131-138.
- Buzsaki, G. (1986) Hippocampal sharp waves: their origin and significance, Brain Research, 398: 242-252.

- Buzsaki, G. (1989) Two-stage model of memory trace formation: a role for "noisy" brain states, Neuroscience, 31: 551-570.
- Buzsaki, G. and Gage, F.H. (1991) Long-term potentiation: does it happen in the normal brain? When and how?. In Abraham, W.C., Corballis, M.C. and White, K.G. (Eds.) Memory Mechanisms: A Tribute to G.V. Goddard, Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ, pp 79-104.
- Cammarota, M., Izquierdo, I., Wolfman, C., Levi de Stein, M., Bernabeu, R., Jerusalinsky, D. and Medina, J.H. (1995) Inhibitory avoidance training induces rapid and selective changes in 3[H]AMPA receptor binding in the rat hippocampal formation, Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 64: 257:264.
- Campeau, S., Hayward, M.D., Hope, B.T., Rosen, J.B., Nestler, E.J. and Davis, M. (1991) Induction of the *c-fos* proto-on-cogene in rat amygdala during unconditioned and conditioned fear, Brain Research, 565: 349-352.
- Chapeau-Blondeau, F. and Chauvet, G. (1991) A neural network model of the cerebellar cortex performing dynamic associations, Biological Cybernetics, 65: 267-279.
- Chapman, P.F., Kairiss, E.W., Keenan, C.L. and Brown, T.H. (1990) Long-term synaptic potentiation in the amygdala, Synapse, 6: 271-278.
- Chapman, P.F., Atkins, C.M., Allen, M.T., Haley, J.E. and Steinmetz, J.E. (1992) Inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis impairs 2 different forms of learning, Neuroreport, 3: 567-570.
- Chattarji, S., Stanton, P.K. and Sejnowski, T.J. (1989) Commisural synapses, but not mossy fibre synapses, in hippocampal field CA3 exhibit associative long-term potentiation and depression, Brain Research, 495: 145-150.
- Churchland, P.S. and Sejnowski, T.J. (1992) The computational brain, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Clark, A.S., Magnusson, K.R. and Cotman, C.W. (1992) In vitro autoradiography of hippocampal excitatory amino acid binding in aged Fischer 344 rats: Relationship to performance on the Morris water maze, Behavioral Neuroscience, 106: 324-335.
- Clugnet, M.C. and LeDoux, J.E. (1990) Synaptic plasticity in fear conditioning circuits: Induction of LTP in the lateral nucleus of the amygdala by stimulation of the medial geniculate body, Journal of Neuroscience, 10: 2818-2824.
- Cole, A.J., Saffen, D.W., Baraban, J.M. and Worley, P.F. (1989) Rapid increase in an immediate early gene messenger RNA in hippocampal neurons by synaptic NMDA receptor activation, Nature (London), 340: 474-476.

- Collingridge, G.L., Kehl, S.J. and McLennan, H. (1983) Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus, Journal of Physiology (London), 334: 33-46.
- Corwin, J., Dean, R.L., Bartus, R.T., Rotrosen, J. and Watkins, D.L. (1985) Behavioral effects of phosphatidylserine in the aged Fisher 344 rat: Amelioration of passive avoidance deficits without changes in psychomotor task performance, Neurobiology of Aging, 6: 11-15.
- Cotman, C.W., Nadler, J.V. (1981) Glutamate and aspartate as hippocampal transmitters: Biochemical and pharmacological evidence. In Roberts, P.J., Storm-Mathisen, J. and Johnston G.A.R. (Eds.) Glutamate Transmitter in the Central Nervous System, Wiley, England, pp 117-154.
- Crepel, F. and Jaillard, D. (1991) Pairing of pre- and postsynaptic activity in cerebellar Purkinje cells induces long-term changes in synaptic efficacy in vitro, Journal of Physiology (London), 432: 123-141.
- Davies, S.N., Lester, R.A.J., Reymann, K.G. and Collingridge, G.L. (1989) Temporally distinct pre- and post-synaptic mechanisms maintain long-term potentiation, Nature (London), 338: 500-503.
- Davies, C.H., Starkey, S.J., Pozza, M.F. and Collingridge, G.L. (1991) GABA_B autoreceptors regulate the induction of LTP, Nature: 609-611.
- De Camilli, P. and Jahn, R. (1990) Pathways to regulated exocytosis in neurons, Annual Review of Physiology, 52: 624-645.
- Deisseroth, K., Bito, H. and Tsien, R.W. (1996) Signalling from synapse to nucleus: postsynaptic CREB phosphorylation during multiple forms of hippocampal synaptic plasticity, Neuron, 16: 89-101.
- Delaney, K.R., Zucker, R.S. and Tank D.W. (1989) Calcium in motor nerve terminals associated with post-tetanic potentiation, Journal of Neuroscience, 9: 3358-3367.
- Diamond, D.M., Dunwiddie, T.V. and Rose, G.M. (1988) Characteristics of hippocampal primed burst potentiation *in vitro* and in the awake rat, Journal of Neuroscience, 8: 4079-4088.
- Diamond, D.M., Bennett, M.C., Stevens, K.E., Wilson, R.L. and Rose, G.M. (1990) Exposure to a novel environment interferes with the induction of hippocampal primed burst potentiation in the behaving rat, Psychobiology, 18: 273-281.
- Diamond, D.M. and Rose, G.M. (1994) Does associative LTP underlie classical conditioning? Psychobiology, 22: 263-269.

- Diana, G., Domenici, MR, Scotti de Carolis, A., Loizzo, A. and Sagratella, S.(1995) Reduced hippocampal CA1 Ca(2+)-induced long-term potentiation is associated with age-dependent impairment of spatial learning, Brain Research, 686: 107-110.
- Doyere, V., Redini-Del Negro, C., Dutrieux, G., Le Floch, G., Davis, S. and Laroche, S. (1995) Potentiation or depression of synaptic efficacy in the dentate gyrus is determined by the relationship between the conditioned and unconditioned stimulus in a classical conditioning paradigm in rats, Behavioral Brain Research, 70: 15-29.
- Dudek, S.M. and Bear, M.F. (1992) Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of the hippocampus and the effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blockade, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 89: 4363-4367.
- Edwards, F.A., Konnerth, A. and Sakmann, B. (1990) Quantal analysis of inhibitory synaptic transmission in the dentate gyrus of rat hippocampal slices: a patch clamp study, Journal of Physiology (London), 430: 213-249.
- Edwards, F. (1991) LTP is a long Term problem, Nature, 350: 271-272.
- Eichenbaum, H. and Otto, T. (1993) LTP and memory: Can we enhance the connections? Trends in Neurosciences, 16: 163-164.
- Ekeberg, O., Wallen, P., Lansner, A., Traven, H., Brodin, L. and Grillner, S. (1991) A computer based model for realistic simulation of neural networks. I. The single neuron and synaptic interaction, Biological Cybernetics, 65: 81-90.
- Errington, M.L., Lynch, M.A. and Bliss, T.V.P. (1987) Long-term potentiation in dentate gyrus: induction and increased glutamate release are blocked by d(-) aminophosphonovalerate, Neuroscience, 20: 279-284.
- Faber, DS and Korn H (1991) Applicability of variation method for analyzing synaptic plasticity, Biophysics Journal, 60: 1288-1294.
- Fin, C., da Cunha, C., Bromberg, E., Schmitz, P.K., Bianchin, M., Medina, J.H. and Izquierdo, I. (1995) Experiments suggesting a role for nitric oxide in the hippocampus in memory processes, Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 63: 113-115.
- Fishkin, R.J., Ince, E.S., Carlezon, W.A. and Dunn, R.W. (1993) D-cycloserine attenuates scopolamine-induced learning and memory deficits in rats, Behavioral and Neural Biology, 59: 150-157.
- Foster, T.C. and McNaughton, B.L. (1991) Long-term enhancement of CA1 synaptic transmission is due to increased quantal size, not quantal content, Hippocampus, 1: 79-91.

- Froestl, W., Mickel, S.J., von Sprecher, G., Diel, P.J., Hall, R.G., Maier, L., Strub D., Melillo, V., Baumann, P.A., Bernasconi, R. et al. (1995) Phosphonic acid analogues of GABA. 2. Selective, orally active GABA_B antagonists, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 38: 3313-3331.
- Fujii, S., Saito, K., Miyakawa, H., Ito, K., and Kato, H. (1991) Reversal of long-term potentiation (depotentiation) induced by tetanus stimulation of the input to CA1 neurones of guinea pig hippocampal slices, Brain Research, 555: 112-122.
- Funahashi, S, Bruce, C.J. and Goldman-Rakic, P.S. (1989) Mnemonic coding of visual space in the Monkey's dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, Journal of Neurophysiology, 61:
- Givens, B. and McMahon, K. (1995) Ethanol suppresses the induction of long-term potentiation in vivo, Brain Research, 688: 27-33.
- Goldman-Rakic, P.S. (1992) Working memory and the mind, Scientific American, special issue, September '92, pp 73-79.
- Granger, R. and Lynch, G. (1991) Higher olfactory processes: Perceptual learning and memory, Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 1: 209-214.
- Granger, R., Staubli, U., Davis, M., Perez, Y., Nilsson, L., Rogers, G.A. and Lynch G. (1993) A drug that facilitates glutamatergic transmission reduces exploratory activity and improves performance in a learning-dependent task, Synapse, 15: 326-329
- Granger, R., Whitson, J., Larson, J. and Lynch, G. (1994) Non-hebbian properties of LTP enable high capacity encoding of temporal sequences, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 91: 10104-10108.
- Grant, S.G.N., O'Dell, T.J., karl, K.A., Stein, P.L., Soriano, P. and Kandel, E.R. (1992) Impaired long-term potentiation, spatial learning, and hippocampal development in fyn mutant mice, Science, 258: 1903-1910.
- Green, E.J., McNaughton, B.L. and Barnes, C.A. (1990) Exploration-dependent modulation of evoked responses in fascia dentata: Dissociation of motor, EEG, and sensory factors and evidence for a synaptic efficacy change, Journal of Neuroscience, 10: 1455-1471.
- Grover, L.M. and Teyler, T.J. (1990) Two components of LTP induced by different patterns of afferent activation, Nature (London), 347: 477-479.
- Harris, K.M. and Landis, D.M. (1986) Membrane structure at synaptic junctions in area CA1 of the rat hippocampus, Neuroscience, 19: 857-872.
- Hasselmo, M.E. and Barkai, E. (1995) Cholinergic modulation of activity-dependent synaptic plasticity in the piriform cortex and associative memory function in a network biophysical simulation, Journal of Neuroscience, 15: 6592-6604.

Hawkins, R.D. and Kandel, E.R. (1990) Hippocampal LTP and synaptic plasticity in Aplysia: Possible relationship of associative cellular mechanisms, Seminars in Neuroscience, 2: 391-401.

Hebb, D.O. (1949) The organization of behavior, Wiley, New York.

- Hemmings, H.J., Nairn, A.C., McGuinness, T.L., Huganir, R.L. and Greengard, P. (1989) Role of protein phosphorylation in neuronal signal transduction, Federation of American Societies of Experimental Biologists, 3: 1583-1592.
- Hess, G. and Gustafsson, B. (1990) Changes in field excitatory postsynaptic potential shape induced by tetanization in the CA1 region of the guinea-pig hippocampal slice, Neuroscience, 1990, 37:61-69.
- Hill, D.R. and Bowery, N.G. (1981) ³H-baclofen and ³H-GABA bind to bicucullineinsensitive GABA_B sites in rat brain, Nature, 290: 149-152.
- Hille, B. (1992) Ionic channels of Excitable Membranes, 2nd Ed., Sinauer, Sunderland, Massachusetts.
- Hirsch, J.C. and Crepel, F. (1990) Use-dependent changes in synaptic efficacy in rat prefrontal neurons *in vitro*, Journal of Physiology, 427: 31-49.
- Israel, M. and Morel, N. (1990) Mediatophore: A nerve terminal membrane protein supporting the final step of the acetylcholine release process, Progress in Brain Research, 84: 101-110.
- Ito, M. (1989) Long-term depression, Annual Review of Neuroscience, 12: 85-102
- Ito, M. and Karachot, L. (1990) Messenger mediating long-term desensitization in cerebellar Purkinje cells, Neuroreport, 1: 129-132.
- Izquierdo, I. and Medina, J.H. (1995) Correlation between the pharmacology of long-term potentiation and the pharmacology of memory, Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 63: 19-32.
- Jahr, C.E. and Stevens, C.F. (1987) Glutamate activates multiple single channel conductances in hippocampal neurones, Nature, 325: 522-525.
- Jerusalinsky, D., Ferreira, M.B.C., Walz, R., da Silva, R.C., Bianchin, M., Ruschel, A.C., Zanatta, M.S., Medina, J.H. and Izquierdo, I. (1992) Amnesia by posttraining infusion of glutamate receptor antagonists into the amygdala, hippocampus, and entorhinal cortex, Behavioral and Neural Biology, 58: 76-80.
- Jerusalinsky, D., Quillfeldt, J.A., Walz, R. da Silva, R.C., Medina, J.H. and Izquierdo, I. (1994) Post-training intra-hippocampal infusion of protein kinase C inhibitors causes amnesia in rats, Behavioral and Neural Biology, 61: 107-109.
- Kandel, E.R. and Hawkins, R.D. (1992) The biological basis of learning and individuality, Scientific American, special issue, September 1992, pp 53-60.

- Kandel, E.R. (1982) Molecular biology of learning: Modulation of transmitter release, Science., 218: 433-443.
- Kauer, J.A., Malenka, R.C. and Nicoll, R.A. (1988) A persistent postsynaptic modification mediates long-term potentiation in the hippocampus, Neuron, 1: 911-917.
- Kelso, S.R., Ganong, A.H. and Brown, T.H. (1986) Hebbian synapses in hippocampus, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 83: 5326-5330.
- Kennedy, M.B. (1988) Synaptic memory molecules, Nature, 335: 770-772.
- Kerr, D.I.B. and Ong, J. (1992) GABA agonists and antagonists, Medicinal Research Review, 12: 593-636.
- Kim, J.J., Decola, J.P., Landeira-Fernandez, J. and Fanselow, M.S. (1991) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist APV blocks acquisition but not expression of fear conditioning, Behavioral Neuroscience, 105: 126-133.
- Kim, J.J. and Fanselow, M.S. (1992) Modality-specific retrograde amnesia of fear, Science, 256: 675-677.
- Kim, M., Campeau, S., Falls, W.A. and Davis, M. (1993) Infusion of the non-NMDA receptor antagonist CNQX into the amygdala blocks the expression of fearpotentiated startle, Behavioral and Neural Biology, 59: 5-8.
- Klemm, W.R. (1976) Hippocampal EEG and information processing: A special role for theta rhythm, Progress in Neurobiology, 7: 197-214.
- kossel, A., Bonhoeffer, T. and Bolz, J. (1990) Non-Hebbian synapses in rat visual cortex, Neuroreport, 1 : 115-118.
- Krogsgaard-larsen, P., Hjeds, H., Falch, E., Jorgensen, F.S. and Nielsen, L. (1988) Recent advances in GABA agonists, antagonists and uptake inhibitors: structure-activity relationships and therapeutic potential, advances in Drug Research, 17: 381-456.
- Kullmann, D.M. and Nicoll, R.A. (1992) Long-term potentiation is associated with increases in quantal content and quantal amplitude, Nature, 357: 240-244.
- Laduron, P.M. (1987a) Axonal transport of neuroreceptors: possible involvement in long-term memory, Neuroscience, 22: 767-779.
- Laduron, P.M. (1987b) Axonal transport of receptors: characterization, role in receptor regulation and possible involvement in learning, Journal of Receptor Research, 7: 417-434.

- Landfield, P.W.(1976) Synchronous EEG rhythms: Their nature and possible function in memory. In Gispen, W.H. (Ed.) Molecular and functional neurobiology. Amesterdam: Elsevier.
- Larkman, A., Stratford, K. and Jack, J. (1991) Quantal analysis of excitatory synaptic action and depression in hippocampal slices, Nature, 350: 344-347.
- Larkman, A., Hannay, T., Stratford, K. and Jack, J. (1992) Presynaptic release probability influences the locus of long-term potentiation, Nature, 360: 70-73.
- Larson, J. and Lynch, G. (1986) Induction of synaptic potentiation in hippocampus by patterned stimulation involves two events, Science, 232: 985-988.
- Larson , J., Wong, D. and Lynch, G. (1986) Patterned stimulation at the theta frequency is optimal for the induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation, Brain Research , 368: 347-350
- Larson, J. and Lynch, G. (1989) Theta pattern stimulation and the induction of LTP; the sequence in which synapses are stimulated determines the degree to which they potentiate, Brain Research, 489: 49-58.
- Liao, D., Jones, A. and Malinow, R. (1992) Direct measurement of quantal changes underlying long-term potentiation in CA1 hippocampus, Neuron, 9: 1089-1097.
- Linden, D.J., Dickinson, M.H., Smeyne, M. and Connor, J.A. (1991) A long-term depression of AMPA currents in cultured cerebellar Purkinje neurones, Neuron, 7: 81-89.
- Lynch, G., Larson, J., Kelso, S., Barrionuevo, G. and Schottler, F. (1983) Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of long-term potentiation, Nature (London), 321: 519-522.
- MacDermott, A.B., Mayer, M.L., Westbrook, G.L., Smith, S.J. and Baker, J.L. (1986) NMDA-receptor activation increases cytoplasmic calcium concentration in cultured spinal cord neurones, Nature (London), 321: 519-522.
- Macdonald, R.J. and White, N.M. (1993) A triple dissociation of memory systems: Hippocampus, amygdala, and dorsal striatum, Behavioral Neuroscience, 107: 3-22.
- Madison, D.V. and Schuman, E.M. (1991) LTP, post or pre? A look at the evidence for the locus of long-term potentiation, the new biologist, 3: pp 549-557.
- Malenka, R.C., Kauer, J.A., Zucker, R.S. and Nicoll, R.A. (1988) Postsynaptic calcium is sufficient for potentiation of hippocampal synaptic transmission, Science, 242: 81-84.
- Malgaroli, A. and Tsien, R.W. (1991) Glutamate-induced long-term potentiation of miniature EPSP frequency in cultured hippocampal neurons, Biophysics Journal, 59: 19a.

- Malgaroli, A. and Tsien, R.W. (1992) Glutamate-induced long term potentiation of the frequency of miniature synaptic currents in cultured hippocampal neurons, Nature, 357: 134-139.
- Malgaroli, A. (1994) LTP expression: hanging like a yo-yo?, Seminars in Cell Biology, 5: 231-241.
- Malinow, R. and Miller, J.P. (1986) Postsynaptic hyperpolarization during conditioning reversibly blocks induction of long-term potentiation, Nature (London), 320: 529-530.
- Malinow, R., Madison, D.V. and Tsien, R.W. (1988) persistent protein kinase activity underlies long-term potentiation, Nature, 335: 820-824.
- Malinow, R., Schulman, H. and Tsien, R.W. (1989) Inhibition of postsynaptic PKC or CAMKII blocks induction but not expression of LTP, Science, 245: 862-866.
- Malinow, R. and Tsien, R.W. (1990) Presynaptic enhancement shown by whole-cell recordings of long-term potentiation in hippocampal slices, Nature, 346: 177-180.
- Malinow, R. (1991) Transmission between pairs of hippocampal slice neurons: Quantal levels, oscillations, and LTP, Science, 252: 722-724.
- Manabe, T., Renner, P. and Nicoll, R.A. (1992) Postsynaptic contribution to long-term potentiation revealed by the analysis of miniature synaptic currents, Nature (London), 355: 50-55.
- Maren, S., Baudry, M. and Thompson, R.F. (1991) Differential effects of ketamine and MK-801 on the induction of long-term potentiation, Neuroreport, 2: 239-242.
- Maren, S., Baudry, M. and Thompson, R.F. (1992) Effects of the novel NMDA receptor antagonist, CGP 39551, on field potentials and the induction and expression of LTP in the dentate gyrus in vivo, Synapse, 11: 221-228.
- Maren, S. Tocco, G., Standley, S., Baudry, M., Thompson, R.F. (1993) Postsynaptic factors in the expression of hippocampal long-term potentiation (LTP): Increased glutamate receptor binding following LTP induction *in vivo*, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 90: 9654-9658.
- Maren, S., DeCola, J.P., and Fanselow, M.S. (1994a) Water deprivation enhances conditioning to contextual, but not discrete, conditional stimuli in rats, Behavioral Neuroscience, 108: 645-649.
- Maren, S., DeCola, J.P., Swain, R.A., Fanselow, M.S., and Thompson, R.F. (1994b) Parallel augmentation of hippocampal long-term potentiation, theta rhythm, and contextual fear conditioning in water-deprived rats, Behavioral Neuroscience, 108, 44-56.

- Maren, S. and Baudry, M. (1995) Properties and mechanisms of long-term synaptic plasticity in the mammalian brain: relationships to learning and memory, Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 63: 1-18.
- Massicotte, G. and Baudry, M. (1990) Triggers and substrates of hippocampal synaptic plasticity, Neuroscience and Behavioral Reviews, 15: 415-423.
- Massicotte, G., Vanderklish, P., Lynch, G. and Baudry, M. (1991) Modulation of AMPA/quisqualate receptors by phospholipase A2: A necessary step in longterm potentiation, Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA, 88: 1893-1897.
- Mayer, M.G., Westbrook, G.L. and Guthrie, P.B. (1984) Voltage-dependent block by Mg²⁺ of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurones, Nature (London), 309: 261-263.
- Mayer, M.L. and Westbrook, G.L. (1987) Permeation and block of N-methyl-Daspartatic acid receptor channels by divalent cations in mouse central neurones, Journal of Physiology, 394: 501-528.
- Mayford, M., Barzilai, A., Keller, F., Schacher, S. And Kandel, E.R. (1992) Modulation of an N-CAM-related adhesion molecule with long-term synaptic plasticity in *Aplysia*, Science, 256: 638-644.
- McNaughton, B.L., Douglas, R.M. and Goddard, G.V. (1978) Synaptic enhancement in the fascia dentata: Cooperativity among coactive afferents, Brain Research, 157: 277-293.
- Milner, B. (1966) Amnesia following operation on the temporal lobes. In Whitty, C.W.M. and Zangwill, O.L. (Eds.) Amnesia: Clinical, Psychological and Medicolegal Aspects, Butterworth. pp.
- Milner, B. (1972) Disorders of learning and memory after temporal lobe lesions in man, Clinical Neurosurgery, 19: 421-446.
- Monaghan, D.T., Bridges, R.T. and Cotman, C.W. (1989) The excitatory amino acid receptors: their classes, pharmacology, and distinct properties in the function of the nervous system, Annual Review of Pharmacology and toxicology, 29: 365-402.
- Morris, R.G.M., Anderson, E., Lynch, G.S. and Baudry, M. (1986) Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5, Nature (London), 319:774-776.
- Moser, E., Mathiesen, I. and Andersen, P. (1993) Association between brain temperature and dentate field potentials in exploring and swimming rats, Science, 259: 1324-1326.
- Mott, D.D. and Lewis, D.V. (1991) Facilitation of the induction of long-term potentiation by GABA_B receptors, Science, 252: 1718-1720.

- Mott, D.D. and Lewis, D.V. (1994) The pharmacology and function of central GABA_B receptors, International Review in Neurobiology, 36: 97-223.
- Mulkey, R.M. and Malenka, R.C. (1992) Mechanisms underlying induction of homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of the hippocampus, Neuron, 9: 967-975.
- Muller, D., Joly, M. and Lynch, G. (1988) Contributions of quisqualate and NMDA receptors to the induction and expression of LTP, Science, 242: 1694-1697.
- Muller, D. and Lynch G. (1988) Long-term potentiation differentially affects two components of synaptic responses in hippocampus, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 85: 6997-7000.
- Muller, D., Buchs, P.A., Dunant, Y. and Lynch, G. (1990) Protein kinase C activity is not responsible for the expression of long-term potentiation in the hippocampus, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 87: 4073-4077.
- Muller, D., Fukunaga, K. and Miyamoto, E. (1994) Mechanisms of expression of longterm potentiation: time-dependent reversal and role of protein kinases. In Baudry, M. and Davis, J.L.(Eds.) Long-term potentiation (Vol. II), MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, pp. 65-80.
- Nosten-Bertrand, M., Errington, M.L., Murphy, K.P., Tokugawa, Y., Barboni, E., Kozlova, E., Michalovich, D., Morris, R.G., Silver, J., Stewart, C.L., Bliss, T.V. and Morris, R.J. (1996) Normal spatial learning despite regional inhibition of LTP in mice lacking Thy-1, Nature, 379: 826-829.
- Okamoto, K. and Sekiguchi, M. (1991) Synaptic receptors and intracellular signal transduction in the cerebellum, Neuroscience Research, 9: 213-237.
- O'Keefe, J. and Nadel, L. (1978) The Hippocampus as a Cognitive Map, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Olds, J.L., Golski, S., McPhie, D.L., Olton, D., Mishkin, M. and Alkon, D.L. (1990) Discrimination learning alters the distribution of protein kinase C in the hippocampus of rats, Journal of Neuroscience, 10: 3707-3713.
- Pelleymounter, M.A., Beatty, G. and Gallagher, M. (1990) Hippocampal 3H-CPP binding and spatial learning deficits in aged rats, Psychobiology, 18: 298-304.
- Perkel, D.J., Hestrin, S., Sah, P. and Nicoll, R.A. (1990) Excitatory synaptic currents in Purkinje cells, Proceedings of the Royal Society London Series B, 241: 116-121.
- Pezzone, M. A., Lee, W.-S., Hoffman, G.E. and Rabin, B.S. (1992) Induction of c-fos immunoreactivity in the rat forebrain by conditioned and unconditioned aversive stimuli, Brain Research, 597: 41-50.

- Priest, C.A. and Pfaff, D.W. (1995) Actions of sex steroids on behaviours beyond reproductive reflexes, Ciba Foundation Symposium (Netherlands), 191: 74-84.
- Riedel, G., Wetzel, W., and Reymann, K.G. (1994) (R,S)-alpha-methyl-4carboxyphenylglycine (MCPG) blocks spatial learning in rats and long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus in vivo, Neuroscience Letters, 167: 141-144.
- Riedel, G. and Reymann, K. (1993) An antagonist of the metabotropic glutamate receptor prevents LTP in the dentate gyrus of freely moving rats, Neuropharmacology, 32:929-931.
- Robinson, G.S., Jr., Crooks, G.B., Jr., Shinkman, P.G. and Gallagher, M. (1989) Behavioral effects of MK-801 mimic deficits associated with hippocampal damage, Psychobiology, 17: 156:164.
- Rolls, E. T. (1989) Parallel distributed processing in the brain: implications of the functional architecture of neuronal networks in the hippocampus, In Morris, R.G.M. (Ed.) Parallel Distributed Processing: Implications for Psychology and Neuroscience, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Roman, F., Staubli, U., and Lynch, G. (1987) Evidence for synaptic potentiation in a cortical network during learning, Brain Research, 418: 221-226.
- Rose, G.M. and Dunwiddie, T.V. (1986) Induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation using physiologically patterned stimulation, Neuroscience Letters, 69: 244-248.
- Sakurai, M. (1987) Synaptic modification of parallel fibre-Purkinje cell transmission in *in vitro* guinea-pig cerebellar slices, Journal of Physiology (London), 394: 463-480.
- Sakurai, M. (1988) Depression and potentiation of parallel fibre-Purkinje cell transmission in *in vitro* cerebellar slices. In Starta, P. (Ed.) Olivo-cerebellar system in motor control, Springer-Verlag,. Berlin.
- Sakurai, M (1990) Calcium is an intracellular mediator of the climbing fiber induction of cerebellar long-term depression, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 87: 3383-3385.
- Salirı, P.A., Weisskopf, M.G. and Nicoll, R.A. (1995) A comparison of the role of dynorphin in the hippocampal mossy fiber pathway in guinea pig and rat, Journal of Neuroscience, 15: 6939-6945.
- Sastry, B.R., Goh, J.W. and Auyeung, A. (1986) Associative induction of post-tetanic and long-term potentiation in CA1 neurones of rat hippocampus, Science, 232: 988-990.
- Schreiber, S.S., Maren, S., Tocco, G., Shors, T.J. and Thompson, R.F. (1991) A negative correlation between the induction of long-term potentiation and activation of immediate early genes, Molecular Brain Research, 11: 89-91.

- Schulman, H. (1995) Protein phosphorylation in neuronal plasticity and gene expression, Current Opinions in Neurobiology, 5: 375-381.
- Schweizer, F.E., Kauer, J.A., Friel, D. and Tsien, R.W. (1992) Approaches to quantal analysis at the CA3-CA1 synapse in rat hippocampal slices, Society for Neuroscience Abstracts, 176: 403.
- Scoville, W.B. and Milner, B.J. (1957) Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions, Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 20: 11-21.
- Serrano, P.A., Benistan, D.S., Oxonian, M.G., Rodriguez, W.A., Rosenzweig, M.R. and Bennett, E.L. (1994) Differential effects of protein kinase inhibitors and activators on memory function in the 2-day-old chick, Behavioral and Neural Biology, 61: 60 -72.
- Serrano, P.A., Rodriguez, W.A, Pope, B., Bennett, E.L. and Rosenzweig, M.R. (1995) Protein kinase inhibitor chelerythrine disrupts memory formation in chicks, Behavioral Neuroscience, 109: 278-284.
- Shapiro, M.L. and Caramanos, Z. (1990) NMDA antagonist MK-801 impairs acquisition but not performance of spatial working and reference memory, Psychobiology, 18: 231-243.
- Sharp, P.E., McNaughton, B.L. and Barnes, C.A. (1989) Exploration-dependent modulation of evoked responses in fascia dentata: Fundamental observations and time course, Psychobiology, 17: 257-269.
- Shibuki, K. and Okasa, D. (1991) Endogenous Nitric oxide release required for longterm synaptic depression in the cerebellum, Nature, 349: 326-328.
- Shors, T.J. and Dryver, E. (1992) Stress impedes exploration and the acquisition of spatial information in the eight-arm radial maze, Psychobiology, 20: 247-253.
- Siegelbaum, S.A. and Kandel, E.R. (1991) Learning-related synaptic plasticity: LTP and LTD, Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 1: 113-120.
- Silva, A.J., Stevens, C.F., Tonegawa, S. and Wang, Y. (1992) Deficient hippocampal long-term potentiation in a calcium-calmodulin kinase II mutant mice, Science, 257: 201-206.
- Skelton, R.W., Scarth, A.S., Wilkie, D.M., Miller, J.J. and Philips, A.G. (1987) Longterm increases in dentate granule cell responsivity accompany operant conditioning, Journal of Neuroscience, 7: 3081-3087.
- Squire, L.R. (1992) Declarative and nondeclarative memory-multiple brain systems supporting learning and memory, Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 4: 232-218.

73

- Stanton, P.K. and Sejnowski, T.J. (1989) Associative long-term depression in the hippocampus induced by Hebbian covariance, Nature (London), 339: 215-218.
- Staubli, U., Thibault, O., DiLorenzo, M. and Lynch, G. (1989) Antagonism of NMDA receptors impairs acquisition but not retention of olfactory memory, Behavioral Neuroscience, 103: 54-60.
- Staubli, U., Larson, J. and Lynch, G. (1990) Mossy fibre potentiation and long-term potentiation involve different expression mechanisms, Synapse, 5, 333-335.
- Staubli, U., Ambros-Ingerson, J. and Lynch, G. (1992) Receptor changes and LTP: An analysis using aniracetam, a drug that reversibly modifies glutamate (AMPA) receptors, Hippocampus, 2: 49-57.
- Staubli, U, Rogers, G. and Lynch, G. (1994) Facilitation of glutamate receptors enhances memory, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 91: 777-781.
- Stevens, C.F. (1993) Quantal release of neurotransmitter and long-term potentiation, Cell, 72(Supplement): 55-63.
- Sudhof, T., Czernik, A.J., Kao, H.T., Takei, K., Johnston, P.A., Horiuchi, A., Wagner, M.A., Perin, M.S., De Camilli, P. and Greengard, P. (1989) Synapsins:
 Mosaics of shared and individual domains in a family of synaptic vesicle phosphoproteins, Science, 245: 1474-1480.
- Thompson, R.F. (1990) Neural mechanisms of classical conditioning in mammals, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society London Series B, 329: 161-170.
- Thompson, L.F., Moskal, J.R. and Disterhoft, J.F. (1992) Hippocampus-dependent learning facilitated by a monoclonal antibody to D-cycloserine, Nature (London), 359: 638-641.
- Thomson, A.M. (1990) Glycine is a coagonist at the NMDA receptor/channel complex, Progress in Neurobiology, 35: 53-74.
- Tocco, G., Maren, S., Shors, T.J., Baudry, M. and Thompson, R.F. (1992) Long-term potentiation is associated with increased [³H]AMPA binding in rat hippocampus, Brain Res., 573: 228-234.
- Tonegawa, S., Li, Y., Erzurumlu, R.S., Jhaveri, S., Chen, C., Goda, Y., Paylor, R., Silva, A.J., Kim, J.J., Wehner, J.M., et al. (1995) The gene knockout technology for the analysis of learning and memory, and neural development, Progress in Brain Research, 105: 3-14.
- Traub, R.D., Miles, R. and Wong, R.K.S. (1989) Model of the origin of rhythmic population oscillations in the hippocampal slice, Science 243: 1319-1325.

- Traub, R.D. and Dingledine, R. (1990) Model of synchronised epileptiform bursts induced by high potassium in CA3 region of rat hippocampal slice: role of spontaneous EPSPs in initiation, Journal of Neurophysiology, 64: 1009-1018.
- Tsukada, M., Aihara, T., Mizuno, M., Kato, H. and Ito, K. (1994) Temporal pattern sensitivity of long-term potentiation in hippocampal CA1 neurons, Biological Cybernetics, 70: 495-503.
- Vanderwolf, C.H. (1969) Hippocampal electrical activity and voluntary movement in the rat, Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology, 26: 407-418.
- Wallace, C.S., Hawrylak, N. and Greenough, W.T. (1991) Studies of synaptic structural modifications after long-term potentiation and kindling: context for a molecular morphology. In Baudry, M. and Davis, J.L. (Eds.) Long-term potentiation: A debate of current issues, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, pp. 189-232.
- Watkins, J.C., Krogsgaard-Larsen, P. and Honore, T. (1990) Structure-activity relationships in the development of excitatory amino acid receptor agonists and antagonists, Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 11: 25-33.
- Williams, J.H., Errington, M.L., Lynch, M. and Bliss, T.V.P. (1989) Arachidonic acid induces a long-term activity-dependent enhancement of synaptic transmission in the hippocampus, Nature, 341: 739-742.
- Willshaw, D.J. and Buckingham, J.T. (1990) An assessment of Marr's theory of the hippocampus as a temporary memory store, Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society London Series B, 329: 205-215.
- Wilson, C.J. (1988) Cellular mechanisms controlling the strength of synapses, Journal of Electron Microscope Techniques, 10: 293-313.
- Wisden, W., Errington, M.L., Williams, S., Dunnett, S.B., Waters, C., Hitchcock, D., Evan, G., Bliss, T.V.P. and Hunt, S.P. (1990) Differential expression of immediate early genes in the hippocampus and spinal cord, Neuron, 4: 603-614.
- Xiao, P., Bahr, B.A., Staubli, U., Vanderklish, P.W. and Lynch, G. (1991) Evidence that matrix recognition contributes to the stabilization but not induction of LTP, Neuroreport, 2: 461-464.
- Yoo, A., Harris, J. and Dubrovsky, B. (1996) Dose-response study of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate on dentate gyrus long-term potentiation, Experimental Neurobiology, 137: 151-156.
- Young, S. and Concar, D (1992) Secret life of the brain: these cells were made for learning, New Scientist Supplement, No. 2, Nov. '92, pp 2-8.

- Young, S.L., Bohenek, D., and Fanselow, M.S. (1994) NMDA processes mediate anterograde amnesia of contextual fear conditioning induced by hippocampal damage: Immunization against amnesia by context preexposure, Behavioral Neuroscience, 108.
- Zalutsky, R.A. and Nicoll, R.A. (1990) Comparison of two forms of long-term potentiation in single hippocampal neurons, Science, 248: 1619-1624.
- Zanotti, A., Aporti, F., Toffano, G., Valzelli, L. (1984) Effects of phosphatidylserine on avoidance relearning in rats, Pharmacological Research Communications, 16: 485-493.
- Zola-Morgan, S.M. and Squire, L.R. (1990) The primate hippocampal formation: Evidence for a time-limited role in memory storage, Science, 250: 288-290.

Mechanisms and properties of long-term synaptic plasticity in the brain: Relationships to learning and memory

A. Hashem-Sakhtsari

(DSTO-TR-0345)

DISTRIBUTION LIST

Number of Copies

AUSTRALIA

DEFENCE ORGANISATION

S&T Program	
Chief Defence Scientist	
FAS Science Policy	1 shared copy
AS Science Industry External Relations	1 5
AS Science Corporate Management	
Counsellor, Defence Science, London	Doc Control sheet
Counsellor, Defence Science, Washington	1
Senior Defence Scientific Adviser)	1 shared copy
Scientific Adviser - Policy and Command	
Director General Scientific and Technical Analysis	1
Navy Scientific Adviser 3 co	pies of Doc Control sheet
	and 1 distribution list
Scientific Adviser - Army	Doc Control sheet
á	and 1 distribution list
Air Force Scientific Adviser	1
Director Trials	1
Director, Aeronautical & Maritime Research Laboratory	1
Electronics and Granillance Research Laboratory	
Electronics and Surveillance Research Laboratory	1
Director Electronics & Surveillance Research Laboratory	1 1
Chief Information Technology Division Research Leader Command & Control and Intelligence Syst	
Research Leader Military Computing Systems	1
Research Leader Command, Control and Communications	1
Executive Officer, Information Technology Division	Doc Control sheet
Head, Information Architectures Group	1
Head, C3I Systems Engineering Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Information Warfare Studies Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Software Engineering Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Trusted Computer Systems Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Advanced Computer Capabilities Group	Doc Control sheet
ricus, ruvunceu computer cupatinues oroup	Doe control bleet

DSTO-TR-0345	
Head, Systems Simulation and Assessment Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Intelligence Systems Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Command Support Systems Group	1
Head, C3I Operational Analysis Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Information Management and Fusion Group	Doc Control sheet
Head, Human Systems Integration Group	1
Publications and Publicity Officer, ITD	1
Greg Marsh, Information Technology Division	1
Dr Richard Price, Information Management and Fusion Gro	up 1
Victor Demczuk, Land Space and Optoelectronics Division	1
John Hansen, Human Systems Integration Group	1
Dr Balaram Das, Systems Simulation and Assessment Group	p 1
Arthur Filippidis, Space Based Surveillance, LSOD	1
Ahmad Hashemi-Sakhstari (Author)	1
DETO Library	
DSTO Library Library Fishermens Bend	1
Library Maribyrnong	1
Library DSTOS	2
Library, MOD, Pyrmont	Doc Control sheet
Library, MOD, 1 yrmon	Doc control sheet
Forces Executive	
Director General Force Development (Sea),	Doc Control sheet
Director General Force Development (Land),	Doc Control sheet
Director General Force Development (Air),	Doc Control sheet
Army	
ABCA Office, G-1-34, Russell Offices, Canberra	4
S&I Program Defence Intelligence Organisation	1
Library, Defence Signals Directorate	Doc Control sheet
B&M Program (libraries)	1
OIC TRS, Defence Central Library Officer in Charge, Document Exchange Centre (DEC),	1 1
US Defence Technical Information Center,	2
UK Defence Research Information Centre,	2
Canada Defence Scientific Information Service,	1
NZ Defence Information Centre,	1
National Library of Australia,	1
•	
Universities and Colleges Dr David Kerr, Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care	1
The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005	1
Dr Abdesselam Bouzerdoum, Senior Lecturer,	1
Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering	
The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005	
Australian Defence Force Academy	1
Library	1
Head of Aerospace and Mechanical Engineering	1
Senior Librarian, Hargrave Library, Monash University Librarian, Flinders University	1 1

Other Organisations NASA (Canberra)	1
AGPS	1
State Library of South Australia	1
Parliamentary Library, South Australia	1
OUTSIDE AUSTRALIA	
Professor Thomas Hewett, Professor of Psychology	1
Department of Psychology/Sociology/Anthropology	
Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA 19104 U.S.A.	
Abstracting and Information Organisations	
INSPEC: Acquisitions Section Institution of Electrical Engineers	1
Library, Chemical Abstracts Reference Service	1
Engineering Societies Library, US	1
American Society for Metals	1
Documents Librarian, The Center for Research Libraries, US	1
Information Exchange Agreement Partners	
Acquisitions Unit, Science Reference and Information Service, UK Library - Exchange Desk, National Institute of Standards and	1
Technology, US	1
SPARES	10
Total number of copies:	70

	Page	classification:	UNCLASSIFIE	D
--	------	-----------------	-------------	---

DEFENCE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY ORGANISATION DOCUMENT CONTROL DATA					1. PRIVACY MARKING/CAVEAT (OF DOCUMENT)			
2. TITLE			REPORTS	N/A 3. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION (FOR UNCLASSIFIED REPORTS THAT ARE LIMITED RELEASE USE (L) NEXT TO DOCUMENT CLASSIFICATION)				
Mechanisms and properties of long-term synaptic plasticity in the brain: Relationships to learning and memory			Document (U) Title (U) Abstract (U)					
	4. AUTHOR(S)				5. CORPO	PORATE AUTHOR		
A. Hashemi-Sakhtsari			Electronics and Surveillance Research Laboratory PO Box 1500 Salisbury SA 5108					
	6a. DSTO NUMBER DSTO-TR-0345		6b. AR NUMBER AR-009-			OF REPORT unical Report	7. DOCUMENT DATE July 1996	
	8. FILE NUMBER N9505/10/99	9.	TASK NUMBER RDI 96/033		SPONSOR J/A	11. NO. OF PAGES 82	12. NO. OF REFERENCES 224	
13. DOWNGRADING/DELIMITING INSTRUCTIONS			14. RELEA	ASE AUTHORITY				
	N/A				Chief, Inf	formation Technology	Division	
	15. SECONDARY RELEA	ASE STA	ATEMENT OF THIS DO	OCUMENT				
	APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE							
OVERSEAS ENQUIRIES OUTSIDE STATED LIMITATIONS SHOULD BE REFERRED THROUGH DOCUMENT EXCHANGE CENTRE, DIS NETWORK OFFICE, DEPT OF DEFENCE, CAMPBELL PARK OFFICES, CANBERRA ACT 2600								
16. DELIBERATE ANNOUNCEMENT								
No limitation								
17. CASUAL ANNOUNCEMENT Yes								
18. DEFTEST DESCRIPTORS								
	Long-term potentiation Long-term depression							
	Memory	u u op 1	contra					
Learning								
	19. ABSTRACT							
Functional and structural changes in synapses, specific regions for communication between nerve cells, are thought to be the basis for storing information, and modulating neuronal behaviour. This continuous remodelling is defined as synaptic plasticity. The process of learning involves stable changes in synaptic efficacy. Long-term potentiation in the hippocampus and long-term depression in the cerebellum are two forms of long-lasting synaptic plasticity that currently serve as our primary experimental models of learning and memory formation. In recent years, there have been considerable advances in understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms of these forms of synaptic plasticity. This report presents an overview of these developments, considers the relationship of long-term synaptic plasticity mechanisms to learning and memory in view of these developments, and suggests future directions for research in this rapidly growing area of neuroscience. Amongst these proposals, any artificial neuronal network model should contain elements that imitate the use-dependent increase (or decrease) of synaptic efficiency.								